
 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of  

East Sussex County Council 

on Tuesday, 6 February 2024 

at 10.00 am 

 
 
 
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived. The live broadcast is 
accessible at: www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default 
 

http://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default


 



 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
To the Members of the County Council  
 
You are summoned to attend a meeting of the East Sussex County Council to be held in the 
Council Chamber, at County Hall, Lewes, on Tuesday, 6 February 2024 at 10.00 am to transact 
the following business 
 
 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 10 October 2023  (Pages 5 - 18) 

 
2.   Apologies for absence   

 
3.   Chairman's business   

 
4.   Questions from members of the public   

 
5.   Report of the Cabinet  (Pages 19 - 48) 

 
6.   Report of the Governance Committee  (Pages 49 - 50) 

 
7.   Report of the People Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 51 - 54) 

 
8.   Report of the Place Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 55 - 58) 

 
9.   Notice of Motion - Motion for the Ocean for East Sussex  (Pages 59 - 64) 

 
The Chairman has directed under Standing Order 36.9 that the following Notice of 
Motion submitted by Councillor Hilton shall stand referred to the County Council. 
 
This Council declares an urgent need for Ocean and River Recovery. 
 
We recognise that we need ocean recovery to meet our net zero carbon emissions 
targets, and we need net zero carbon emissions to recover our ocean. We also need to 
act as the custodians of the rivers, waterways and tributaries that run through our towns 
and villages on the way to the sea. We recognise that all people wherever they live, 
impact and are impacted by ocean and river health and that we have an essential role 
to play in recovering the health of our ocean. 
 
This Council requests Cabinet to: 
 

1. Report to full council within 6/12 months with an ocean and river 
recovery strategy and action plan that delivers against transparent, 
measurable indicators reported to the council annually (see next section 
for suggestion about strategic goals and action to be taken).  

2. That the council writes to central government requesting that they put the 
oceans and rivers into net recovery by 2030. (full details of this letter and 
specific requests can be seen in the next section).  

 
 

10.   Notice of Motion - Overview and Scrutiny Chairs  (Pages 65 - 66) 
 
The Chairman has directed under Standing Order 36.9 that the following Notice of 
Motion submitted by Councillor Tutt shall stand referred to the County Council. 
 



 

Overview and scrutiny committees are a key strand of corporate governance and play 
an important role in holding the Executive to account. It is therefore proposed that Full 
Council agree as follows: 
 
1. that the Chair of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed from 

amongst the members of opposition groups; 
2. to delegate authority to each of the three Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 

appoint their Chair from amongst their memberships, subject to the requirement 
above; and  

3. that the Constitution be amended accordingly. 
 

11.   Questions from County Councillors   
 
a) Oral questions to Cabinet Members 
b) Written questions of which notice has been given pursuant to Standing Order 44 
 

12.   Report of the East Sussex Fire Authority  (Pages 67 - 70) 
 

 
 

Note: There will be a period for collective prayers and quiet reflection in the Council 
Chamber from 9.30 am to 9.45 am. The prayers will be led by the Reverend Canon Martha 
Mutikani, Associate Vicar of the Uckfield Plurality. The Chairman would be delighted to be 
joined by any members of staff and Councillors who wish to attend. 
 
County Hall  
St Anne's Crescent  
LEWES  
East Sussex BN7 1UE  
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive 29 January 2024 
 



 

 

MINUTES 

 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

 

MINUTES of a MEETING of EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL held at Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Lewes on 10 OCTOBER 2023 at 10.00 am 

 

 

Present    Councillors Abul Azad, Colin Belsey, Nick Bennett, 
Bob Bowdler, Charles Clark, Chris Collier, Anne Cross, 
Godfrey Daniel, Johnny Denis, Penny di Cara, Chris Dowling, 
Claire Dowling, Kathryn Field, Gerard Fox, Roy Galley (Vice 
Chairman), Nuala Geary, Keith Glazier, Julia Hilton, 
Ian Hollidge, Stephen Holt, Eleanor Kirby-Green, 
Carolyn Lambert, Tom Liddiard, Philip Lunn, 
James MacCleary, Wendy Maples, Sorrell Marlow-Eastwood, 
Carl Maynard, Matthew Milligan, Steve Murphy, 
Sarah Osborne, Paul Redstone, Christine Robinson, 
Pat Rodohan, Phil Scott, Daniel Shing, Stephen Shing, 
Alan Shuttleworth, Bob Standley, Georgia Taylor, David Tutt, 
John Ungar, Trevor Webb and Brett Wright 

 

 
31. Minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2023  
 
31.1 RESOLVED – to confirm as a correct record minutes of the County Council meeting held 
on 18 July 2023. 
 
 
32. Apologies for absence  
 
32.1 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Sam Adeniji, Matthew 
Beaver, Alan Hay, Johanna Howell, Peter Pragnell, and Colin Swansborough.  

 

33. Chairman's business  
 
COUNCILLOR PRAGNELL 
 
33.1 The Chairman announced that Councillor Pragnell was unable to attend the meeting. 
 
WELCOME 
 
33.2 The Chairman welcomed Councillor Anne Cross and Councillor Brett Wright to their first 
County Council meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



MINUTES 

 

 

CHAIRMAN’S ACTIVITIES 
 
33.3 The Chairman reported that Councillor Pragnell had attended a number of events since 
the last Council meeting, including the Bishop of Chichester’s reception and choral evensong, 
the commemorations for the Dieppe Raid, the Newhaven and Ravilious celebration, the Battle of 
Britain dinner at the Seahaven branch of the Royal Society of St. George, and the civic service 
of the Chair of Rother District Council.  
 
33.4 The Chairman also reported that he had attended the Mayor of Eastbourne’s Harvest 
Festival civic service, the Mayor and Young Mayor of Seaford’s civic reception, and the East 
Sussex Fire and Rescue Awards ceremony.  
 
33.5 The Chairman congratulated Dawn Whittaker, Chief Fire Officer, on the award of the 
King’s Fire Service Medal which had recently been presented to her by The Princess Royal.  
 
33.6 The Chairman also congratulated Councillor Stephen Shing following Polegate Town 
Council’s decision to bestow the title of Honorary Freeman upon him. 
 
33.7 The Chairman also reported that in recognition of its commitment to the Armed Forces 
Covenant, the Council received a Gold Standard Award for its pledge to support current and 
former military service personnel and their families. The Chairman thanked on behalf of the 
Council all those who had helped secure the award.  
 
 
PETITIONS 
 
33.8 The following petition was presented before the meeting: 
 
Councillor Rodohan - calling on the County Council to introduce traffic calming measures 

including a 20mph speed limit, relevant mandatory signs and occasional 
radar checks to deliver safety in Southfields Road, Eastbourne.  

 
 
PRAYERS 
  
33.9 The Chairman thanked Reverend Paddy MacBain, Vicar at All Saints Danehill with 
Chelwood Gate for leading prayers before the meeting.  
 
 
34. Questions from members of the public 
  
34.1 Copies of the questions from members of the public and the answers from Councillor 
Claire Dowling (Lead Member for Transport and Environment) are attached to these minutes. 
One supplementary question was asked and responded to.  
 
 
35. Declarations of Interest  
 
35.1 There were no declarations of interest.  
 
 
 
 

Page 6



MINUTES 

 

 

36. To receive notice by the Returning Officer certifying the election of a county 
councillor for the electoral divisions of Heathfield and Mayfield and Eastbourne: Meads:  
 
36.1 The County Council agreed to receive the Notice of the Returning Officer certifying the 
election of a County Councillor for the Heathfield and Mayfield division at the by-election held on 
27 July 2023 and a County Councillor for the Eastbourne – Meads division at the by-election 
held on 3 August 2023.  
 
 
37. Reports  
 
37.1 The Chairman of the County Council, having called over the reports set out in the 
agenda, reserved the following for discussion: 
 
Cabinet report – paragraph 1 (Council Monitoring Q1 2023/24), paragraph 2 (Scrutiny Review of 
Equality and Inclusion in Adult Social Care and Health), paragraph 3 (Annual Progress Report 
on the County Council’s Climate Emergency Plan), and paragraph 4 (East Sussex, South 
Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Local Plan Review).  
 
People Scrutiny Committee report – paragraph 1 (Scrutiny Review of Equality and Inclusion in 
Adult Social Care and Health). 
 
Leader and Lead Member for Strategic Management and Economic Development report – 
paragraph 1 (Gatwick Airport Limited (GAL) - Gatwick Northern Runway Project (NRP) and the 
current Development Consent Order (DCO) application). 
 
 
NON-RESERVED PARAGRAPHS 
 
37.2 On the motion of the Chairman and the County Council, the Council adopted those 
paragraphs in reports that had not been reserved for discussion as follows:  
 
Cabinet report – paragraph 5 (Ashdown Forest Trust Fund)  
 
Governance Committee report – paragraph 1 (Amendment to Constitution – Scheme of 
Delegation to Officers), paragraph 2 (Co-opted Independent Members on the Audit Committee), 
paragraph 3 (Appointments of Members to Committees, Sub Committees and Panels), 
paragraph 4 (Appointments to Outside Bodies), paragraph 5 (Review of the County Council’s 
procedure for considering Notices of Motion), and paragraph 6 (Amendment to the Constitution 
– Public Questions). 
 
 
38. Report of the Cabinet 
  
Paragraph 1 (Council Monitoring Q1 2023/24) 
 
38.1 Councillor Bennett introduced the reserved paragraph in the Cabinet report. 
 
38.2 The paragraph was noted after debate.  
 
Paragraph 2 (Scrutiny Review of Equality and Inclusion in Adult Social Care and 
Health) 
 
38.3 The Chairman reminded the Council that he was taking paragraph 2 of the 

Page 7



MINUTES 

 

 

Cabinet report with the report of the People Scrutiny Committee.  
 
Paragraph 3 (Annual Progress Report on the County Council’s Climate Emergency 
Plan) 
 
38.4 Councillor Bennett introduced the reserved paragraph in the Cabinet report.  
 
38.5 The paragraph was noted after debate. 
 
Paragraph 4 (East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals 
Local Plan Review) 
 
38.6 Councillor Claire Dowling introduced the reserved paragraph in the Cabinet 
report.  
 
38.7 The paragraph was noted after debate. 
  
 
39. Report of the People Scrutiny Committee  
 
Paragraph 1 (Scrutiny Review of Equality and Inclusion in Adult Social Care and Health) 
 
39.1 The Chairman reminded the Council that he was taking paragraph 1 of this report with 
paragraph 2 of the Cabinet’s report. 
 
39.2 Councillor Ungar moved the adoption of paragraph 1 of the Scrutiny Committee’s report.  
 
39.3 Councillor Glazier moved the adoption of paragraph 2 of the Cabinet’s report. The 
motion, including the recommendations, was CARRIED after debate.  
 
39.4 The motion to adopt paragraph 1 of the Scrutiny Committee’s report, including the 
recommendations, was CARRIED after debate on the basis that the implementation would be in 
accordance with the recommendations of the Cabinet. 
  
 
40. Report of the Leader and Lead Member for Strategic Management and Economic 
Development  
 
Paragraph 1 (Gatwick Airport Limited (GAL) - Gatwick Northern Runway Project (NRP) and the 
current Development Consent Order (DCO) application) 
 
40.1 Councillor Glazier introduced the reserved paragraph in the Leader and Lead Member’s 
report. 
 
40.2 The paragraph was noted after debate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



MINUTES 

 

 

41. Questions from County Councillors  
 
41.1 The following members asked questions of the Lead Cabinet Members indicated and 
they responded: 
 
Questioner 
 

Respondent  Subject 

Councillor Murphy 
 

Councillor Standley Family hubs and nursery 
provision for three and 
four year olds 
 

Councillor Wright 
 

Councillor Claire 
Dowling 

Councillor views on 
20mph speed limits in 
East Sussex  
 

Councillor Ungar 
 

Councillor Claire 
Dowling 

Upgrading zebra 
crossings to pelican 
crossings 
 

Councillor Daniel 
 

Councillor Glazier Cabinet vacancy 
 

Councillor Denis 
 

Councillor Standley National schools budget 
and support for East 
Sussex schools 
 

Councillor Scott 
 

Councillor Bennett Queensway Gateway 
road update 
 

Councillor Redstone 
 

Councillor Bennett Financial state of the 
county 
 

 
41.2 Five written questions were received from Councillors Field, Lambert, and Stephen 
Shing for the Lead Member for Transport and Environment. The questions and answers are 
attached to these minutes. The Lead Member responded to supplementary questions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



MINUTES 

 

 

THE CHAIRMAN DECLARED THE MEETING CLOSED AT 12.15 pm 
_________________________ 

 
The reports referred to are included in the minute book 

 
_________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



MINUTES 

 

 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
 
1.   Question from Rod Calder, Forest Row, East Sussex 
 
Background  
 
In the last twelve months I have submitted three questions to three Full Council meetings, 
regarding the totally unacceptable surfacing work carried out by Costain on the A22 in Forest 
Row last July. Despite numerous E mails, a meeting on site on 11th January and an assurance 
on 6th April that the remedial work would be included in this years planned work programme, 
there has been absolutely no progress on site. 
 
In June the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport stated that the remedial works 
would now be carried out by Balfour Beatty during Sept/Oct. Well, nothing happened in 
September! 
 
Question 
 
So my question on behalf of the residents of Forest Row is; 
 
If the remedial works are not complete by the end of October as stated by the Director of 
Communities, Economy and Transport will the Lead Member agree to meet me and our local 
Councillor during the first week of November to discuss outstanding issues and the way 
forward? At that meeting would the Lead Member also explain why the only two Carriageway 
Surfacing projects to be carried out in Forest Row this year are:- 1. Stonepark Drive; this is a 
short cul de sac which, incidentally joins Post Horn Lane which is also a cul de sac! 
2. Twyford Lane; this is, predominantly, a single track lane in the Forest with a stream running 
across it! 
 
I do not understand how either of these projects would take priority over finally surfacing all the 
A22 in the village. 
 
 
Response by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment  
 
I thank Mr Calder for his further query. This year ESCC commenced a new Highway Services 
Contract with our providers Balfour Beatty Living Places. As part of this contract they will 
delivering a wide range of schemes across the County including the works along the A22 in 
Forest Row.  
 
We provide an indicative timeframe for all schemes at the beginning of the year but all highway 
schemes require investigation and design to properly determine the timing of the works and our 
programme is updated accordingly.   
 
I am afraid as can happen with a live delivery programme there has been a delay with the start 
of these works. Unfortunately delays on a live programme do occur. Our works are very 
dependent on weather, the availability of resources/materials and what else is happening on the 
network. Works on the A roads, including the A22, are particularly demanding as they form the 
main transport links within and in and out of the county. We also need to coordinate our works 
with the National Highways team because the diversion routes affect their network as well as 
our own. Whilst we endeavour to optimise our programme there are times where a delay from 
one scheme has a knock-on effect on others. However, residents should be assured that we do 

Page 11



MINUTES 

 

 

intend to deliver these works in March 2024 and they will be contacted when we have a 
definitive date for the works.  
 
Regarding the works in Stonepark Drive or Twyford Lane, both roads have been identified as 
requiring repair due to surface cracking/deterioration as they have reached their end of life. 
However, these works have not taken priority over the works on the A22 Forest Row. Our 
annual programme is not delivered in order of road type priority. Works are scheduled when the 
conditions are best for the type of repairs we are carrying out and resources are available. 
 
 
2. Question from Anna Sabin, St. Leonards, East Sussex 
 
There are many very inexpensive road painting and flower pot interventions that could be made 
to a few roads in Hastings which would enable shopping streets to be pedestrianised, walks to 
school to be made safe and walks from railway station to beach to be marketable and enticing. 
Would you, or one of your transport officers, come to Hastings to work out where these active 
travel initiatives could be implemented so that you can make plans for them and apply for 
funding for them? 
 
There is a climate emergency meaning the current pace of ‘modal switch’ needs radically 
speeding up.  
 
Response by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment  
 
The County Council has and continues to undertake significant work to promote and encourage 
active travel choices in the County, including in Hastings, utilising funding that we have 
successfully secured towards the delivery of location specific or packages of schemes. These 
schemes include pedestrianisation in town centres, introducing school streets and improving 
active travel access to/from rail stations and other destinations. 
 
As you may be aware, the Government published its ‘Plan for Drivers’ last week.  As further 
guidance emerges from Government on elements of this Plan, including Low Traffic 
Neighbourhoods which often comprise some of the interventions you have suggested, we will 
need to consider how this relates to East Sussex. 
 
We are planning to commence a review of the County’s Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan in 2024, to ensure that it is aligned with our emerging Local Transport Plan 
which will be subject to consultation later in the autumn. Our updated LTP will set out the 
County’s approach, working with partners, to decarbonise transport and support the local 
economy up to 2050. 
 
As we review our Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, we will be engaging with key 
local stakeholders on the extent of the existing identified networks, discuss the opportunities to 
update these and consider further schemes to include in the updated Plan. Therefore, this 
engagement process will be the mechanism to discuss any potential active travel related 
schemes in Hastings for consideration and inclusion in the Plan. 
 
Once updated, the Plan will then be used as our evidence base to prioritise schemes for 
development and delivery across the whole of East Sussex, and in turn inform the content of 
future bids for active travel funding. 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



MINUTES 

 

 

WRITTEN QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER 44 
 
1. Question from Councillor Caroline Lambert to the Lead Member for Transport and 

Environment 

 

Residents of Hawth Hill, Seaford raise frequent concerns about the state of the roads in this 
estate.   
 
Hawth Hill has a tarmac overlay on a concrete base.  The nature of this surface results in 
frequent potholes where the tarmac skim has worn away.  Hawth Hill is also a bus route and 
has many older and more vulnerable residents who rely on this mode of transport.  Jet patching 
is carried out, but this is not a satisfactory or a permanent solution. 
Residents in Hawth Hill want to find a longer term, preferably permanent solution to these 
continuing problems. 
 
Will the Lead Member: 
 

- outline the advantages and disadvantages of reverting to the original concrete road 

surface; 

- state whether or not this would be an acceptable and more permanent solution; 

- outline any other options for dealing with the clustering of potholes on this road surface, 

including re-tarmacking the estate. 

 
 

Answer by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 
 
Thank you to Councillor Lambert for her questions. I believe some of the queries were 
answered in the email sent to her on 9 September by officers. But to clarify there is no 
advantage to having a tarmac surface over a concrete road other than aesthetic.  
 
When built these roads did not have a tarmac covering and the tarmac was added later.  Our 
preference therefore is to remove the thin tarmac layer and to repair the concrete surface and 
joints. This avoids the gradual unsightly deterioration of any tarmac surface superficially added.  
 
Hawth Hill is currently on the programme to receive this treatment as part of our 2025/2026 
concrete road programme. We have an annual £1m programme of concrete road repairs but we 
have many concrete roads in East Sussex and unfortunately, we do not have the resources to 
repair every concrete road in the county at the same time. Our highway stewards will continue 
to monitor the roads condition and if it becomes unsafe for users they will arrange interim 
targeted safety repairs. 
 
 

2. Question from Councillor Caroline Lambert to the Lead Member for Transport and 

Environment  

 

The County Council is being encouraged to provide more facilities for cycle parking to 
encourage active travel.  Unfortunately, these facilities do not always seem to be 
adequately protected. 
 
The cycle racks in Broad Street, Seaford, are an example of this.  The racks are 
protected by flimsy plastic bollards which have been damaged, as has the racks, by 
reversing vehicles.  This has apparently been a regular occurrence.  Could the Lead 
Member please: 

Page 13



MINUTES 

 

 

 
- give the cost of repairs to these cycle racks from the time when they were 

installed; 
- give the cost of installing bollards as a more robust protection for both cyclists 

and indeed pedestrians from reversing vehicles as a cost comparison; 
- state what the County Council’s policy is with regard to the installation and 

protection of cycle racks.  
 

 
Answer by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 

 
The cycle rack and associated bollards in Broad Street were installed as a temporary measure 
in 2020 as part of a wider countywide response to the Covid-19 pandemic. They were funded by 
the Department for Transport’s Emergency Active Travel Fund which was allocated to local 
authorities to encourage greater levels of cycling and walking at that time. 
 
The location of the rack was identified and agreed in discussion with Lewes District Council and 
the installation was subject to a Road Safety Audit to ensure it was located safely. These bolt 
down racks are of a type that can be installed quickly but are time-limited in terms of their 
durability, and are generally not maintainable.   
 
Based on installing cycle racks elsewhere in the county, the cost of providing a permanent, 
more durable rack and protective bollards, including associated civils costs, is in the region of 
£10,000 - £15,000, depending on the specific circumstances of each. It is unlikely that these 
cycle racks will be altered or upgraded in the near future unless a funding source is identified 
and made available. 
 
We are proposing to review our Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) from 
early 2024, at which time consideration may be given to options for improving the quality of 
cycle parking facilities around the county, including in Seaford. 

 
 

3. Question from Councillor Stephen Shing to the Lead Member for Transport and 

Environment 

 

Willingdon and Jevington Parish Council have planted wild grass seed on the grass verges next 
to highway footway on A2270 Eastbourne Road for some years. 
Many residents and visitors express their appreciation and comment that county highway should 
do the same. 
 
I am writing behalf of our residents to ask the County Council to consider amending the policy to 
allow any new or repairs of grass verges that are in rural areas to be planted with wild grass 
seeds. It is a very little cost and county highway only carries out grass cutting 1-2 times per 
year. The long wild grass would be beneficial for our environment, wildlife and climate change 
and it looks better. 

 
Answer by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 
 
The County Council are committed to increasing and helping biodiversity in our verges and we 
have a designated wildflower verge process that communities can apply to. We are also 
carrying out a trial of a reduction in cuts on some selected rural verges, to allow wild plant 
cycles to benefit. Our Soft Estate Senior Asset Engineer will also consider the incorporation of 
wildflower seeds where construction projects are required to repair or reinstate verges. Both 

Page 14



MINUTES 

 

 

these options require ESCC permission so that we are able to acknowledge and manage our 
verges correctly to maximise the biodiversity benefits.  
 
It should be noted that there will be areas that we would not allow such verges, such as at 
junctions where visibility splays might be compromised. 
 
 
4. Question from Councillor Stephen Shing to the Lead Member for Transport and 

Environment  

 
In the verbal update report given by officers at the Place Scrutiny Committee meeting on 26 
September, they indicated that it is likely that government is planning to delay the introduction of 
food waste collections until 2026. This, I believe, is to be welcomed, but ideally it should be 
abandoned for the time being. 
 
In the last 4-5 years more people are using food banks and more people are in difficult financial 
situations, either to pay for food or heating. More importantly, our Council has just approved the 
Household Support Fund (4) to Adult Social Care and Health and Children’s Services the grant 
of £3,896,568, in which there is £1,646,000 for free school meals and £250,000 to food banks 
and food partnerships. 
 
The fact is so many people don’t have enough money to buy food, so where is the food waste 
coming from. I don’t believe that vegetable peelings from food preparation and chicken and fish 
bones leftover from households is enough quantity to economically introduce the new food 
waste collections under the Food Waste & Environment Act 2021.  The result of not introducing 
food waste collections will be beneficial for our environment and climate change. 
 
It is the over production of food or out of sell by date food, that is a commercial food wastage 
matter, and the Government it should be dealing with it under commercial food wastage policy. 
 
Most of our residents I spoke to agree this household food waste collection is a waste of 
resources and a waste of time. Our council tax money can be better used for other council 
services. 
 
Therefore, I asked you to consider this household waste collection proposal and agree with us 
that our Council write to our Government to request they abandon it please. 
 
Answer by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 
 
The Environment Act 2021, which is already in law, places an obligation on waste collection 
authorities to introduce separate weekly collections of food waste. The five districts and 
boroughs in this county are waste collection authorities. The obligation does not apply to East 
Sussex County Council, which is a disposal authority, albeit we will be required to dispose of the 
food waste collected in the county. 
 
Food waste makes up a significant proportion of what goes into the waste bin. In 2017 a 
compositional analysis carried out in east Sussex showed that over 30% of waste in the bin was 
food. Increased costs of living will be influencing our residents’ spending and how much waste 
and recycling they generate. But food waste will still be generated, and this can and should be 
composted at our facility at Whitesmith. We are undertaking a new waste composition analysis 
and we should have data in 2024 which will show how much food waste is currently in the bin in 
East Sussex. 
 

Page 15



MINUTES 

 

 

The County Council supports weekly food waste collections and will not therefore be writing to 
government asking for this to be abandoned. 
 
 

5. Question from Councillor Kathryn Field to the Lead Member for Transport and 

Environment  

 
What is the usage of the Flexibus by area? Does it run on commercial bus routes, for example, 
in the evening when there are no services scheduled? 
 
 
Answer by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 
 
FlexiBus is the demand responsive transport (DRT) scheme within our Bus Service 
Improvement Plan (BSIP), operating from 7am to 7pm, Monday to Saturday. It has been 
designed to serve rural parts of East Sussex that either have no or very limited public transport.  
The FlexiBus services are intended to provide a link to towns where there are essential services 
or to the wider public transport network (both bus and rail).  The FlexiBus services also act as a 
feeder service into the bus and rail network to allow people to access the network at key 
interchanges across the county to allow these services to enhance accessibility into the 
conventional bus network.  
 
Where the service operates in areas where there are conventional bus services, these services 
are protected (customers are unable to book FlexiBus), as it’s a key objective that the FlexiBus 
services do not to compete with or extract passengers from existing, conventional public 
transport routes, nor is it here to replace them in any way. 
 
It is worthwhile noting that many low frequency, rural services are not commercially operated, 
but operate under contract and at the expense of East Sussex County Council as what are 
termed socially necessary bus services. If passengers were to be extracted from these existing 
services, it would lower their value for money and may make their provision less sustainable.  
There are also some limited rural services that are run on a commercial basis.  In the same vein 
it is imperative that customers are not extracted from these services as this may make them 
commercially unviable and we may lose these services.  Some of these services operate very 
infrequently, sometimes as little as once a day. Whilst introducing a FlexiBus “no service buffer” 
around a conventional bus timetable has been considered (e.g. plus and minus 2 hours), there 
is a very real danger of passengers choosing to instead plan their journeys around using 
FlexiBus which could extract passengers from these existing services.  
 
Below are the total passengers to date by zone but also the total passengers in September by 
zone for reference. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



MINUTES 

 

 

Fleet Name 

Total 
Passengers 

to date 

Total 
Passengers 

for 
September 

East Sussex Zone 
1 890 204 

East Sussex Zone 
2 842 181 

East Sussex Zone 
3 656 243 

East Sussex Zone 
4 481 162 

East Sussex Zone 
5 409 167 

East Sussex Zone 
6 119 48 

East Sussex Zone 
7 384 96 

East Sussex Zone 
8 814 261 

East Sussex Zone 
9 587 189 

East Sussex Zone 
10 347 139 

 
 
Link to the map of the zones: 
https://escc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=592ca03ec9e14d5b8b417ee7f
2915895&showlayers=Zone%20One;Zone%20Two;Zone%20One;Zone%20Three;Zone%20Fo
ur;Zone%20Five;Zone%20Six;Zone%20Seven;Zone%20Eight;Zone%20Nine;Zone%20Ten;Zon
e&extent=520576,97468,594552,141652,27700 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 17

https://escc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=592ca03ec9e14d5b8b417ee7f2915895&showlayers=Zone%20One;Zone%20Two;Zone%20One;Zone%20Three;Zone%20Four;Zone%20Five;Zone%20Six;Zone%20Seven;Zone%20Eight;Zone%20Nine;Zone%20Ten;Zone&extent=520576,97468,594552,141652,27700
https://escc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=592ca03ec9e14d5b8b417ee7f2915895&showlayers=Zone%20One;Zone%20Two;Zone%20One;Zone%20Three;Zone%20Four;Zone%20Five;Zone%20Six;Zone%20Seven;Zone%20Eight;Zone%20Nine;Zone%20Ten;Zone&extent=520576,97468,594552,141652,27700
https://escc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=592ca03ec9e14d5b8b417ee7f2915895&showlayers=Zone%20One;Zone%20Two;Zone%20One;Zone%20Three;Zone%20Four;Zone%20Five;Zone%20Six;Zone%20Seven;Zone%20Eight;Zone%20Nine;Zone%20Ten;Zone&extent=520576,97468,594552,141652,27700
https://escc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=592ca03ec9e14d5b8b417ee7f2915895&showlayers=Zone%20One;Zone%20Two;Zone%20One;Zone%20Three;Zone%20Four;Zone%20Five;Zone%20Six;Zone%20Seven;Zone%20Eight;Zone%20Nine;Zone%20Ten;Zone&extent=520576,97468,594552,141652,27700


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



CABINET 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

 
The Cabinet met on 7 November and 12 December 2023 and 23 January 2024.  Attendances:- 
 
 Councillor Glazier (Chair) (3) 
 Councillors Bennett (3), Bowdler (3), Claire Dowling (3), Maynard (3) and Standley (2) 
 
1.         Annual Report of Looked After Children’s Services 
 
1.1 The Cabinet has considered the annual progress report for Looked After Children’s 
Services which is attached as Appendix 1. It was presented to and discussed at the Corporate 
Parenting Panel on 28th October. Some additional information regarding the budget for looked 
after children has been added to this version of the report. 
 
1.2 During the course of 2023-23 a total of 865 children were looked after by ESCC. At the 
end of the year there were 33 more children in care than the previous year, 661 in total. This 
was, in part, due additional Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) and fewer 
children being discharged from care during this period. The presentation of many of these 
children showed a rise in the levels of complexity both in terms of their mental health, 
neurodiversity, poor school attendance and complex family dynamics making reunification 
more difficult to achieve. 
 
1.3      31% of this cohort identified as being of a minority ethnic background or of mixed 
heritage. 112 were UASC and 106 UASC were Care Leavers (CLs) aged 18+. 35 young people 
came to ESCC through the National Transfer Scheme and the remainder were spontaneous 
arrivals via Police involvement or directly from Newhaven Port. In addition, the Home Office 
opened a number of asylum hotels which resulted in 60 referrals to age assess young people 
who claimed to have had their age incorrectly assessed at the point of entry. 
 
1.4 There was a slight increase in children coming into care from 246 during 2021/22 to 249 
during 2022/23. The number of 0-5 year olds admitted to care during 2022/23 remained at 81 
(from 81 in 2020/21). The number of 6-12 year olds admitted to care during 2022/23 decreased 
from 71 in 2021/22 to 57 in 2022/23. The number of children aged 13+ admitted to care in 
2022/23 was 111 compared to 94 in the previous year. 
 
1.5     At year end there was a decrease in the number of our LAC leaving care, from 228 in 
2021/22 to 217 in 2022/23.   
 
1.6 The annual report identified that there was a shift in the type of placements used with 
fewer children being placed in foster care (in house, kinship or with independent fostering 
agencies) and an increase in children placed for adoption, placed with parents, placed in 
supported 16+ accommodation, with a very significant increase in children placed in agency 
residential children’s homes. This was reflective of the significant and ongoing national 
sufficiency challenges where the sourcing of all placement types. There were a limited number 
of occasions when children were placed in unregistered provision for short periods of time as a 
consequence of the shortage of regulated placements. These arrangements were subject to 
robust risk assessments and carefully monitored. The ‘Use of Resources’ slide (slide 39 of 
Appendix 1) gives a very clear indication of the financial impact of the change in placement 
split. Many of the children with the most complex needs were placed in our in-house children’s 
homes/fostering placements due to the independent sector being unable to meet their needs.  
 
1.7 Overall, the increase in LAC numbers, levels of complexity and sufficiency and financial 
challenges prompted ESCC to engage Impower, a Consultancy specialising in Children’s 
Services. They have a proven track record in assisting Local Authorities to deliver improved 
processes specifically through an approach called Valuing Care, this has focused on analysing 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



CABINET 

current capacity and ensuring the right placements for the right child at the right time. This work 
is currently underway. The LAC service is focussed on improving sufficiency, improving market 
engagement, maintaining performance and reducing the financial burden of children’s 
placements to the local authority.  (See slide numbers 40 and 41 of Appendix 1 for the 
priorities). 
 
1.8 The services for Looked After Children (LAC) are supported via core funding from the 
CSA budget, a small proportion of the Dedicated Schools Grant and by the Pupil Premium for 
additional education support for children.  
 
1.9 Further detail on the work undertaken by the Looked after Children’s Services in set out 
in Appendix 1. 
 
1.10   The Cabinet has welcomed the report and thanked all those involved in the provision of 
services for LAC. 
 
 
 
2. Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR) 
 
2.1 The County Council continues to provide vital services that underpin the quality of life for 
our residents, communities and businesses. The past year has seen both significant 
achievements and growing challenge. We have been able to deliver additional investment in our 
roads and improvements to public transport, opened new Family Hubs and taken further steps 
in the integration of health and care, all of which benefit our residents and communities. Our 
Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge recognised the strong leadership and 
robust management of the Council, along with the dedication of its staff, and the huge value of 
the effective partnership working in the county. Our services have been externally assessed as 
providing good value for money. These successes, achieved despite many years of financial 
and service pressures, put us in the strongest possible position to respond to ongoing demands 
and new challenges as a well-run and effective organisation. 
 
2.2 However, the financial outlook we now face represents a step change. Growth in need 
for the statutory, demand-led services for vulnerable children and adults which account for 
around three quarters of our budget, coupled with the escalation in costs being felt right across 
the Council, have significantly increased the expenditure required to maintain core services. 
Our increased costs have not been offset by additional income. Despite extensive lobbying by 
us and the local government sector, highlighting the national factors impacting on all councils, 
the Autumn Budget Statement contained no new funding for local authorities and contained 
updates which further increased our costs. The provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement confirmed the lack of additional funding, indicating that authorities should instead 
draw on their reserves to make ends meet.  
 
2.3 Without the hoped for national support to meet unavoidable costs, the proposed budget 
for 2024/25 presented in this report is reliant on, for the first time, making a significant 
withdrawal from our limited reserves as the only way to bridge a large shortfall in funding. The 
use of reserves is a short term measure and, as having some working capital to protect services 
against unforeseen risks and to enable service changes is vital, the reserves will need to be 
replenished. The size of the forecast financial gap in the medium term means that our available 
reserves would be exhausted within the next two years. Council Tax would need to increase by 
over 9% to cover the coming year’s gap, and well beyond that in future years, which would 
require a referendum. In addition to the budget approach proposed, the coming year will require 
a further fundamental look at what more can be done to address the sizeable deficit as far as 
possible. This task is particularly challenging in East Sussex because of the work done and 
reductions made since 2010, which make options scarce. 
 

Page 20



CABINET 

2.4 The escalation in need seen over the last 12 months, particularly for the vital services 
this Council provides for the most vulnerable, stems from the persistent legacy of Covid, the 
increased cost of living and other national and international factors. These have resulted in a 
combination of more people needing our support and needs becoming more complex to meet. 
On top of this, the cost of providing services has risen rapidly, particularly in Children’s 
Services, and it remains difficult to recruit and retain the skilled workforce we need to deliver our 
services. We also continue to respond to significant national reforms which place new demands 
on our services. These are all factors largely outside local control. 
 
2.5 These pressures have already had a considerable effect in the current year and also 
mean the outlook for the future has become more difficult. We continue to take action wherever 
we can to mitigate financial and service delivery pressures – making best use of new 
technology, investing in our workforce, seeking efficiencies and checking that our services are 
effective and provide value for money. But, ultimately, there are few levers left to pull, 
particularly given a lack of funding for the preventative work which would reduce the need for 
more intensive support in the future. As this work has been scaled back over time, services 
have become increasingly focused on responding to the most critical needs, creating a negative 
cycle of growing demand and increased costs. The intense strain on resources also means we 
are not able to invest to the level we would want to in other important areas, such as the roads 
which support the county’s economy and communities. 
 
2.6 The latest picture of both current and future pressures must be factored into our 
planning for the future and our detailed Council Plan which covers what we will do and the 
specific targets we will use to judge our performance. The Council Plan, revenue budget and 
capital programme are fully integrated through our robust business planning process, 
Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR). In the face of significant challenges it 
is crucial that we maintain a sharp focus on our four priority outcomes and their supporting 
delivery outcomes in our business planning. In June Cabinet agreed, for planning purposes, 
some changes to the delivery outcomes to ensure they remain up to date and these have been 
factored into the plans presented in this report. 
 
2.7 The RPPR process matches available resources with our delivery plans for our priority 
outcomes so that we focus and protect our spending where it will deliver our priorities most 
effectively. RPPR also ensures we have the demographic trends and performance information 
to monitor our progress. The process of planning, through RPPR, for 2024/25 and beyond has 
translated our full analysis of key trends and pressures into updated service and financial plans. 
The RPPR process has been applied across all services in the development of the Council Plan 
(Appendix 2) supported by the Budget (Appendix 4), Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
(Appendix 3) and capital programme (Appendix 9a) set out in this report.  
 
2.8 In recent years the Council has been able to provide welcome stability in our service 
offer to residents during a very uncertain time, helped by short-term Government support for 
social care and Covid impacts. This relative stability was also made possible by over a decade 
of significant work to transform services and manage resources as effectively as possible 
through innovation, working as One Council and proactively in partnership. This involved taking 
difficult decisions to reduce or step back from services when we had to, in order to live within 
our means and protect services for the most vulnerable. Overall, this meant identifying savings 
of £139m between 2010 and 2023, focusing spending on core services to balance our books. 
Making savings on this scale was not easy and had significant impacts on front line services 
and residents. The Council had to reprioritise its investment and reduce the extent and breadth 
of its service offer. This means we have already implemented the service reductions some other 
authorities are now progressing to address funding shortfalls, leaving us few avenues left to 
explore for further savings or efficiencies. Making any further savings would mean a 
fundamental review of our Core Offer which previously set out a realistic, basic but decent level 
of value for money services for residents in a time of austerity. 
 

Page 21



CABINET 

2.9 The immediate position for 2024/25 is the most challenging we have seen in recent 
years. We have taken every step we can to minimise the deficit, including reprioritising spend, 
maintaining preventative approaches which will reduce higher level demand where possible, 
and reviewing and reducing our capital programme to minimise the need for borrowing. Despite 
this, the balanced budget presented for the coming year is, for the first time, and in the absence 
of other realistically deliverable options within the timeframe, supported by a significant draw 
from reserves. Previous robust and prudent management means we have this final safety net to 
see us through the next 12 months, but this is not a sustainable way to balance the budget. 
Reserves can only be used once and do not reduce longer term pressure, in effect simply 
deferring the deficit whilst also depleting the contingency funding we have available for the 
future. We will need to use the temporary buffer provided by using our limited reserves to 
develop and implement further measures to reduce the longer term deficit where we can, and to 
continue to call for national recognition of the untenable position we and other councils face. 
Further detail on the revenue budget position is provided from paragraph 2.43  
 
2.10 In addition, the budget reflects the continued national reliance on Council Tax to fund 
ongoing core pressures from rising demand, particularly for social care. As previously indicated, 
Government has extended for a further year the level of Council Tax flexibility and the approach 
of expecting local authorities to apply an Adult Social Care Precept on bills to provide essential 
funding for care services. Government funding calculations for 2024/25 assume councils with 
social care responsibilities will take both the higher level of Council Tax and the additional 
precept, with this factored into the allocation of funding to local authorities. Council Tax now 
represents around 70% of our net budget. Given the very significant deficit we face in the 
coming year and beyond, we do need to apply these increases to safeguard services as far as 
possible. We have long highlighted to Government that individual authorities’ ability to raise 
Council Tax is unrelated to need for services and is particularly problematic for areas such as 
East Sussex with high need for social care services, but where capacity for local people to pay 
more to support these services is limited. We will continue to make this case.  
 
2.11 Our lobbying of Government, individually and through our networks and partnerships, 
will continue to set out robustly the challenges we face and the consequences of funding 
shortfalls for people, communities and businesses in the county. Throughout the autumn and 
winter we added our voice to those of the sector as a whole in articulating the issues to 
Government. The County Councils’ Network letter to the Secretary of State and Chancellor 
attached at appendix 11 illustrates the key points being made. There is much uncertainty about 
the medium term, particularly in light of the general election expected this year. The need for 
immediate support to meet statutory duties and local needs, sustainable reform to the way local 
government is funded and multi-year financial settlements to support effective planning will be 
key messages from ESCC and the wider local government sector to any new Government.   
 
This report sets out: 

 key changes to the national and local context since the report to Cabinet on 7 November 

2023; 

 the draft Council Plan 2024/25 and updated MTFP; 

 key updates on performance since quarter 2; 

 proposals for the 2024/25 revenue budget, taking account of changes in the financial 

picture since November and based on an increase in Council Tax of 2.99% and an Adult 

Social Care Precept of 2%; 

 the savings currently planned for the next year; 

 the position in relation to reserves; 

 the reviewed and reprofiled capital programme in light of the revenue position; and 

 feedback from engagement exercises and equalities impacts. 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



CABINET 

National and Local Context 
 
2.12 Since the last report to Cabinet in November the national policy environment has 
continued to evolve, with further announcements which will impact on us locally. Key 
developments are set out below along with detail of how we are responding: 
 
2.13 King’s speech and Government reshuffle: The King’s speech on 7 November set out 
the Government’s planned legislative programme ahead of the next general election, expected 
to take place this year and by January 2025 at the latest. Government plans focused on 
strengthening society, growing the economy and keeping people safe, including specific 
legislation related to automated vehicles, smoking and vaping, and crime, anti-social behaviour 
and terrorism. Policy measures focused on progressing Government priorities around the 
economy, NHS and migration. The Prime Minister subsequently undertook a reshuffle of his 
frontbench team later in November. New ministerial appointments of most relevance to local 
government included new Secretaries of State for the Home Office, Health and Social Care and 
Environment and new Ministers for Local Government, Public Health, Schools and Roads. 
 
2.14 National economic outlook and Government spending plans: The Chancellor 
announced the Autumn Budget Statement on 22 November, accompanied by new national 
economic forecasts from The Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR). The OBR judged that 
overall growth would be 0.7% in 2024, rising to 1.4% in 2025, and then an average of 1.9% 
between 2026 and 2028. Debt and borrowing forecasts were lower than at the March 2023 
Budget, with debt expected to hit a peak of 93.2% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in 2026/27 
before falling to 92.8% in 2028/29. The unemployment rate was predicted to peak at 4.6%, later 
than expected, in 2025 before falling to 4.1%. The OBR forecasted that headline inflation will 
remain higher for longer than previously predicted, falling to 2.8% by the end of 2024 and not 
reaching the 2% target rate until 2025 – this revised projection has impacts for our ongoing 
operating costs. The Bank of England held interest rates at 5.25% in December in support of its 
ongoing strategy to curb inflation, with some analysts predicting rates may begin to fall during 
2024 as inflation reduces further. 
 
2.15 In the Budget Statement the Chancellor indicated that the Government’s focus was on 
economic growth. The Budget announcements focused on deploying additional spending on 
measures designed to stimulate growth and on changes to taxation policy, notably a reduction 
in employee national insurance contributions from 12% to 10% from January 2024 and 
reductions in taxes for businesses and the self-employed. The Budget also confirmed that 
means-tested and disability benefits would rise by 6.7% in line with inflation (as at September 
2023), and the state pension by 8.5% due to the triple lock. The National Living Wage will also 
be increased to £11.44 for workers 21 years old and over from April 2024, an increase of 9.8%. 
This will add significant financial costs to the social care provider market, increasing the 
financial pressure on Adult Social Care and Children’s Services in the coming years. There was 
no change in the overall planned increase in Government department spending limits of 1% in 
real terms. This could mean real terms cuts for unprotected services, including most of local 
government.  The announcements were accompanied by a target of 0.5% annual productivity 
improvements in the public sector. The statement included no new funding for local government 
beyond what had already been announced. The date of the spring Budget has been set for 6 
March 2024. 
 
2.16 Local government funding: The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, 
received on 18 December, provided the detailed funding picture for local government and was 
again for one year only. It indicated that Core Spending Power would increase by an average 
6.5% for local authorities in England, based on the presumption that all councils will levy the 
maximum increase in Council Tax. The Council Tax referendum limit was maintained at 3% and 
the Adult Social Care precept at 2%. There was no additional funding, but the continuation of a 
range of short-term grants was confirmed, including grant funding for social care. In response to 
cost pressures on councils the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) instead advised the use of reserves to maintain services and for investment to be 

Page 23



CABINET 

made in preventative approaches in children’s services where possible to improve the 
sustainability of children’s social care. The implications of the Budget and provisional finance 
settlement announcements for the Council’s MTFP are set out from paragraph 2.43.  

2.17 Cost of living: The increased cost of living has continued to impact on households, 
although inflation, as measured by the Consumer Prices Index (CPI), reduced to 3.9% in the 12 
months to November (down from 4.6% in October), a larger than expected reduction. The falls 
in recent months have been driven by a significant drop in the cost of energy from the peak in 
autumn 2022 and slower growth in the cost of food and fuel. However, the ongoing high rate, on 
top of previous price increases, continues to create significant pressures on households, 
particularly those on low incomes. We continue to work with partners through the multi-agency 
East Sussex Financial Inclusion Steering Group on ways to maximise access for vulnerable 
residents to the advice and support available. The Household Support Fund (HSF), which is 
administered locally by ESCC, continues through the winter but is currently due to close at the 
end of March 2024. As with all short-term grant funded schemes, it will not be possible for 
ESCC to maintain the HSF measures without further national funding. Cabinet agreed in 
December to extend for a further and final financial year (2024/25), using residual Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) grant, the Additional Measures scheme which has 
provided funding to voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) money and debt advice 
organisations county-wide to support those facing cost of living pressures.  
 
2.18 Levelling up and devolution: The Autumn Budget Statement also announced four new 
devolution deals across England. This included two Level 3 mayoral deals with Greater 
Lincolnshire, and Hull and East Yorkshire and two Level 2 non-mayoral deals with Lancashire 
and Cornwall. The Government also announced that opportunities would be made available for 
counties with no neighbouring or ‘island’ unitary authority to take up Level 2 devolution deals, 
where there is local consent to such arrangements and subject to meeting relevant criteria as 
set out in the Levelling Up White Paper. This includes Surrey County Council in the south east. 
DLUHC also published a new framework for extending deeper devolution to existing Level 3 
Mayoral Combined Authorities, and a scrutiny protocol, setting out best practice for 
accountability in devolved areas.  
 
2.19 The third round of the Levelling Up Fund was also announced in November, with funding 
allocated to proposals submitted under previous rounds rather than through a new round of 
bidding. No funding was awarded to East Sussex authorities in this round. Further detail on the 
previously announced Funding Simplification Doctrine was set out earlier in January to coincide 
with the doctrine coming into effect. The doctrine, which aims to ensure that central government 
chooses the most suitable distribution methodology when designing new funding for councils, is 
a cross-Government policy with DLUHC responsible for its administration. It covers all new 
funds that are made available exclusively to councils by Government, but explicitly excludes 
funding within the Local Government Finance Settlement and services mandated by statute 
such as funding for schools, children’s and adult social care and public health.  
 
2.20 Levelling Up Partnerships with Government in Hastings and Rother continue to progress 
work to develop bespoke, place-based regeneration plans to access associated capital funding. 
We will continue to work with our district and borough partners and DLUHC on these 
partnerships, and the Long Term Plan for Towns endowment funds for Hastings and Bexhill, to 
maximise the benefit of these opportunities for local communities and the local economy. 
Further guidance on the Long Term Plan for Towns was published by DLUHC in December 
including arrangements for Town Boards, which are to include representation from the county 
council in two tier areas. 
 
2.21 The Office for Local Government (Oflog) has outlined next steps in establishing an early 
warning system for local authorities at risk of failure, intended to complement existing 
mechanisms for warning and support - including external auditors, peer challenges, the work of 
teams in DLUHC and other government departments, and regulators of particular services such 
as the Care Quality Commission and Ofsted. Oflog’s two-phase approach, starting with desk-

Page 24



CABINET 

based research which will be followed up with ‘Early Warning Conversations’ with local 
authorities identified as potentially at risk, will be piloted before the first conversations take 
place in mid-2024.  
 
2.22 Local Economic Growth: The transfer of the three main functions of Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (LEPs) (business representation, strategic economic planning, and responsibility 
for the delivery of government economic growth programmes) to upper tier local authorities or 
bodies with devolved powers is ongoing. In December, Government published further guidance 
setting out expectations on the transfer and future delivery of business representation and local 
economic planning. In 2024/25, Government will provide eligible combined authorities and 
upper tier local authorities with up to £240,000 to deliver the functions previously delivered by 
LEPs, subject to final business case and integration plan approvals. This represents a reduction 
on 2023/24 funding levels, as Government expects the integration of functions into combined 
and local authorities to deliver efficiencies. Future funding is to be set out at the next Spending 
Review. Locally, a transition plan has been developed to manage the transfer of relevant South 
East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) functions to constituent local authorities, including 
ESCC, from April 2024. The transition of LEP functions links to work on the new East Sussex 
Economic Strategy, which is being informed by consultation undertaken towards the end of 
2023, with a draft planned to be in place for the new financial year. 
 
2.23 Children’s Services: Children’s Services nationally, regionally and locally have 
continued to experience significant pressures from rising demand and increased complexity of 
need, coupled with workforce shortages and a lack of specialist placements, all of which has led 
to escalating costs and operational challenges over the past year. Locally, in response to rising 
demand in children’s social care, Children’s Services has worked with Impower consultants to 
implement the Valuing Care approach, enhancing our ability to secure the right care for the right 
child for the right length of time and working on placement sufficiency, including foster carer 
recruitment. This approach will be taken forward into business as usual in 2024/25. The 
department is also launching the nationally trialled Family Safeguarding model, which is in line 
with the recommendations of the Independent Review of Children’s Social Care, in early 2024. 
The final two of 11 new Family Hubs opened in November, in Lewes and Peacehaven. Family 
Hubs will offer ongoing access to support and advice from Midwives, Health Visitors, Early 
Communications Support Workers, Early Years Practitioners, Community Engagement 
Coordinators and Early Help Keyworkers. 
 
2.24 In December, the Government published further detail on how it will take forward 
commitments set out in ‘Stable Homes, Built on Love', its plan to reform children’s social care. 
This included:  

 a Kinship Care Strategy, setting out the practical and financial support the government 

will provide extended families providing homes for children who cannot live with their 

parents, including plans to expand the role of Virtual School Heads; 

 a Children's Social Care National Framework, which brings together the purpose, 

principles, enablers, and outcomes that should be achieved in children’s social care;  

 updated statutory guidance on 'Working Together to Safeguard Children’, which sets out 

new child protection standards and advocates for a multi-disciplinary workforce to 

support the diverse needs of children; and 

 a data strategy which outlines plans to transform children's social care data, including 

improved information sharing through research and evaluation. 

We are assessing the implications of this latest policy for our services. 
 
2.25 In December OFSTED undertook an inspection of ESCC Children’s Services under the 
inspecting local authority children’s services (ILACS) framework which focuses on children’s 
social care. We await the report which will also inform the future development of these services.  
 
2.26 Adult Social Care and Health: Locally the health and care system continues to be 
under pressure from high demand which is exacerbated by workforce challenges. In January 

Page 25



CABINET 

the Department for Health and Social Care set out next steps in its plans to develop the care 
workforce. These included the first phase of a new Care Workforce Pathway, intended to 
provide a national career structure for the adult social care workforce, new qualifications, 
subsidised training and additional apprenticeship opportunities. Further detail is awaited on how 
these will work in practice and associated funding. In November, the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) announced the outcomes of its pilot new assessments of how local authorities deliver 
their adult social care duties. The new assessments are intended to support sharing of best 
practice and improving Government’s data, intelligence and understanding of the system. CQC 
has also updated its assessment framework and guidance to local authorities in light of the 
pilots. ESCC can expect its assessment in the coming months and we will be undertaking a 
Local Government Association Adult Social Care peer challenge in February to support our 
preparations. 
 
2.27 Climate, environment and planning: In December the Conference of Parties (COP) 
28, the governing body of the United Nations (UN) Convention on Climate Change, took place. 
The summit’s outcome included a ‘global stocktake’ intended to be used by countries to develop 
stronger climate action plans by 2025, with the ongoing overarching aim to keep the target of 
limiting global warming to 1.5°C within reach. Locally, an updated Corporate Environment Policy 
and new Carbon Offset Framework were agreed in December to help guide our future work. As 
part of ongoing planning reform, DLUHC has revised the National Planning Policy Framework 
which sets out the government's planning policies for England and how these are expected to 
be applied. The framework was revised following consultation on measures linked to the 
Levelling-up and Regeneration Act.  
 
2.28 Transport: In November we received confirmation from Government of initial allocations 
of funding redirected from the HS2 high speed rail plan towards other transport schemes, 
including road maintenance. ESCC was allocated £1.6m in each of 2024/25 and 2025/26 which 
has been factored into the grant funding available to support our planned highways capital 
programme. Allocations beyond 2025/26, together with future funding conditions, are yet to be 
confirmed. Additional one-off investment in highways, agreed by Cabinet in November 2021 
and June 2023, continues to be delivered with the majority to be completed by the end of 
March. The challenging revenue budget position, referenced throughout this report, has 
required the capital programme to be reviewed to minimise the borrowing costs of the overall 
programme within Treasury Management and the revenue budget. The level of investment in 
highways, whilst maintained above Department of Transport grant funding levels, will not, in the 
medium term, be able to be delivered to the level originally envisaged.  
 
2.29 Consultation on the draft updated Local Transport Plan (LTP) for East Sussex began in 
November. When finalised later this year, the Plan (covering the period to 2050) will set out how 
we will connect people to places around and through the county over the next three decades – 
by walking, cycling, public transport, car or by using new forms of travel.  
 
2.30 Migration: As part of the Autumn Budget Statement, Government announced that 
‘thank you’ payments for Homes for Ukraine sponsors would be extended into a third year 
(2024/25). These will remain at £500 per month to reflect the ongoing generosity of hosts in 
supporting those who have fled the war. Earlier in January we responded, in liaison with our 
district and borough council, VCSE and health partners, to Government consultation on plans to 
determine an annual cap, to take effect from January 2025, on the number of refugees resettled 
in the UK each year via safe and legal routes; further details of these routes are expected to be 
set out imminently. The consultation sought to better understand local capacity to accommodate 
and support vulnerable and at-risk people. Our response highlighted the major constraints 
associated with the availability of affordable housing in the county, the significant and uncertain 
impact of national policy decisions, and the need for appropriate funding of local services. There 
continue to be multiple schemes in operation for asylum dispersal, refugee resettlement and 
migrant visa schemes. These are subject to ongoing change and review by Government and we 
continue to work closely with Government departments to ensure the local system is adequately 
resourced to support these populations.  

Page 26



CABINET 

 
2.31 A court judgement in relation to legal action brought by Kent County Council on use of 
the National Transfer Scheme (NTS) for unaccompanied asylum seeking children found that the 
NTS and the management of the scheme is inadequate and for periods of time was unlawful. 
The court directed that the Home Office must resolve the issues and ensure that it works fairly 
and sustainably in the future. ESCC supported the Kent action and continues to call on the 
Home Office to discharge its responsibility effectively; we also continue to play a full part in the 
NTS.  
 
2.32 Looking ahead, the coming year will see the run up to the next general election and the 
subsequent formation of a new Government, with the potential for significant policy 
developments affecting ESCC services. Implications for the Council and new developments will 
continue to be factored into our ongoing planning through RPPR. 
 
Council Plan 
 
2.33 The draft Council Plan is attached at Appendix 2. The Council Plan continues to be built 
on the Council’s four overarching priority outcomes: driving sustainable economic growth; 
keeping vulnerable people safe; helping people help themselves; and making best use of 
resources now and for the future. Making best use of resources now and for the future is the 
priority test through which any activity must pass. The remaining three priority outcomes guide 
our activities, direct our resources and are reflected in our Council Plan activities and targets. 
The delivery outcomes have been updated to reflect the changes agreed by Cabinet in June. 
 
2.34 The Council Plan contains the targets and milestones used to judge our performance. 
The Cabinet and County Council actively consider performance during the year and may decide 
to adjust targets to reflect any changed circumstances. We have reviewed and updated our 
targets where necessary, ensuring these reflect the best performance we can deliver with the 
resources available. Clearly defining the outcomes we wish to achieve and monitoring our 
success in delivering these outcomes for the county’s residents, communities and businesses is 
critical. We also keep track of a wide range of key data about East Sussex and related to our 
priority outcomes. These help us to assess our impact more fully and respond appropriately 
when we need to do so. Key data will be monitored annually as part of the State of the County 
report. 
 
2.35 The Council Plan is still a work in progress until final budget allocations are made and 
firm targets can be set. It will be published in March 2024 and refreshed in July when final 
performance outturn figures for 2023/24 are available. Authorisation is sought for the Chief 
Executive to make final changes pre and post publication in consultation with Lead Members as 
appropriate. 
 
Progress with Council Plan and Budget 2023/24 since quarter 2 
 
2.36 Overall, our services are continuing to perform well despite challenging circumstances. 
There are five performance measures where forecasted performance has changed since the 
quarter 2 monitoring report, that we need to consider as part of our business planning for future 
years, in advance of the quarter 3 monitoring report which will go to Cabinet on 5 March 2024. 
 
2.37 Looked After Children and Child Protection Plans – On 28 November 2023 there 
were 707 children with a Child Protection Plan. This is a 5.4% increase since the end of quarter 
2, when the figure was 671. Demand for services remains high, however the number of Looked 
After Children has not increased since the end of quarter 2 and remains at 686. This 
demonstrates that the focused work across locality teams to enable children to live safely at 
home and the work done by Looked After Children teams to support reunifications is having a 
positive impact. Despite this work, the cost of placements for children remains both of local and 
national concern. 
 

Page 27



CABINET 

2.38 NHS Health Checks performance measure – The quarter 2 outturn for the NHS 
Health Checks measure (reported a quarter in arrears) is now available and shows that 1,119 
eligible people have received a health check, against a yearly target of 2,300. This measure 
was reported as amber in quarter 1 but as a result of the improved performance in quarter 2 we 
now expect to achieve the annual target. 
 
2.39 Support with Confidence – A public consultation on the future of the Support with 
Confidence scheme ran from 27 September to 5 December 2023. In October 2023 the licence 
holders informed us that they are withdrawing the brand, so the scheme closed on 31 
December 2023. Our future offer to personal assistants, businesses and residents will be 
agreed by Lead Member on 6 March 2024. This measure will be proposed for deletion as part 
of quarter 3 monitoring. 
 
2.40 Direct Payments performance measure – The percentage of people receiving 
community based long term support who are in receipt of Direct Payments has fallen slightly. 
The number of people in receipt of Direct Payments has increased from 1,520 as at 31 March 
2023 to 1,562 as at 30 November 2023. However, the denominator (number of people receiving 
community based long term support) has increased at a much greater rate, from 4,792 as at 31 
March 2023 to 5,099 as at 30 November 2023, leading to a continued drop in performance. 
Despite this drop, we are still performing well compared to national benchmarks (based on 
current national data, this performance would fall within the upper-middle quartile). It is 
important to note that this measure is a snapshot at the end of each reporting period so 
performance can fluctuate. 
 
2.41 Carers supported through short-term crisis intervention – Between 1 April and 13 
December 2023, 229 carers have been supported (78% of the target for 2023/24 of 390). This 
is a significant improvement on the performance reported for quarter 2. The provider will 
continue to promote the service to other carer organisations to raise their profile, and further 
discussions in January are exploring additional ways to promote the service. 
 
2.42 There is currently no significant change to the projected quarter 2 revenue budget 
forecast.  
 
Revenue Budget 2024/25 
 
2.43 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is set out in Appendix 3, and detailed in the 
table in paragraph 2.45 below. It reflects the latest assessment across service departments and 
corporate budgets, including modelled demand, inflation, the impact of the overspending 
2023/24 financial position and local and national policy objectives. 
 
2.44 The council continues to make necessary investments in services to meet the needs of 
our residents, £51.1m in 2024/25, as set out in the table below. However, the funding made 
available to meet the required investment is not sufficient and reserves of £14.3m are required 
to be used in 2024/25 to set a balanced budget: 
 

Summary of Budget Growth and Funding 2024/25 (£m) 

Inflation: contractual 28.2 

Pay Awards 7.9 

Service Investment:   

Adult Social Care 3.9 

Children’s Services 19.1 

Management of service pressures through other revenue 
budgets 

(8.0) 

Total Budget Growth 51.1 

Council Tax (21.7) 

Page 28



CABINET 

Business Rates (7.5) 

Government Grants (7.6) 

Total Additional Funding (36.8) 

Budget Deficit 14.3 

 
2.45 The MTFP has been updated for regularly calculated adjustments and pressures since 
last reported at Cabinet in November 2023, including the impact of the Local Government 
Settlement announced on 18 December 2023. The full MTFP is provided at Appendix 3. 

 

 
Ref Estimate (£m) 

    2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

Cabinet 7 November 2023 DEFICIT/(SURPLUS)   27.700 23.114 13.884 64.698 

Normal Updates:   
    

Council Tax Flexibility: Add a further 2.00% to our 
current 2.99% assumption (1.99% plus 1% ASC 
Precept) to get to 4.99% (2.99% plus 2.00% ASC 
Precept) in 2024/25 A 

(7.059) (0.248) (0.257) (7.564) 

Council Tax (inflation, base growth and collection) (2.924) 3.529 0.021 0.626 

Council Tax (Rother Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme) 

0.988 0.035 0.037 1.060 

Business Rates Retention (inflation and growth) B (0.960) (1.039) (1.530) (3.529) 

Business Rates Reset (remove from MTFP) C 0.000 (2.255) 3.931 1.676 

Revenue Support Grant inflation update D (0.049) 0.049 0.000 0.000 

Impact of Local Government Settlement:         

Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and 
Improvement Funding 

E (2.240) 0.000 0.000 (2.240) 

Social Care Grant Funding F (1.327) 0.000 0.000 (1.327) 

Continuation of Services Grant (but at a lower rate) G (0.478) 0.000 0.000 (0.478) 

Continuation of New Homes Bonus H (0.554) 0.554 0.000 0.000 

Confirmation of Business Rates Pool in 2024/25 I (2.194) 2.194 0.000 0.000 

Inflation for contracts (normal and contract specific) J (0.138) 1.950 0.888 2.700 

Further Actions:      

Waste PFI Model – Additional Income K (3.000) 3.000 0.000 0.000 

Impact of National Living Wage to £11.44 per hour L 6.850 0.000 0.000 6.850 

Further Looked After Children Investment M 4.414 1.293 2.570 8.277 

Reprofile of Public Health Investment N (2.420) 0.459 (0.586) (2.547) 

CET: Waste Housing Growth O (0.002) 0.050 0.057 0.105 

Treasury Management - extension of IFRS9 override 
P 

(0.500) 0.500 0.000 0.000 

Treasury Management - review of capital programme (1.200) (1.300) (1.500) (4.000) 

Pay Award Q (1.200) (0.970) (1.000) (3.170) 

Levies Increase R 0.016 0.001 0.001 0.018 

General Contingency  S (0.044) 0.062 (0.013) 0.005 

Pressures added to / (removed from) the MTFP         

Pressures Protocol – bids approved by CMT T 0.665 0.000 0.000 0.665 

DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) AFTER UPDATES   14.344 30.978 16.503 61.825 

One-off use of Financial Management Reserve U (14.344) 14.344 0.000 0.000 

DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) AFTER DRAW FROM 
RESERVES 

 0.000 45.322 16.503 61.825 

 
Page 29



CABINET 

2.46 The Chancellor, Jeremy Hunt MP, delivered the Autumn Statement on 22 November. No 
funding was announced for upper tier local authorities beyond what had been previously 
announced.  There was further reaffirmation about the grant increases for social care in 
2024/25 announced in the 2022 Autumn Statement, which had already been factored into 
financial planning.  

 
2.47 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was published on 18 December. 
As widely expected, there was nothing in the settlement that significantly improved the Council’s 
financial position for 2024/25. Allocations of grants were confirmed and have been factored into 
the MTFP, leaving a deficit position of £14.3m in 2024/25. 
 
2.48 In presenting a balanced position for 2024/25, the Council will instead be required to 
make a £14.3m draw from the Financial Management Reserve. As reserves can only be used 
once, the underlying deficit will be deferred into 2025/26, leaving a deficit of £45.3m. Even if it is 
assumed that Council Tax flexibility will continue into 2025/26, and that the maximum 4.99% is 
taken in 2025/26, the deficit would be £34.2m. Given the level of strategic reserves is projected 
to be £25.0m at 31 March 2028, this is a challenging position, and not sustainable. 
 
2.49 In addition to strategic reserves, there is also a General Fund (unallocated reserve) 
balance of £10.0m, aligned to CIPFA best practice, plus a general contingency within the base 
revenue budget equal of £5.3m for 2024/25, to cushion the impact of unexpected events and 
emergencies in year. This general contingency is set at 1% of net revenue expenditure (NRE) 
less Treasury Management. For 2024/25, the General Fund and contingency total £15.3m, 
which represents 2.76% of NRE.  
 
2.50 Having increased Council Tax by the maximum allowable amount, and the MTFP 
remaining in deficit, it would take an additional 4.10% in council tax to balance the budget for 
2024/25. A total increase of 9.09% would require a referendum. 
 

Normal Updates:  

 

A Council Tax Inflation and Base  
The Government has provided local authorities in England additional flexibility in setting Council 
Tax by increasing the referendum limit for increases in Council Tax to 3% in 2024/25 and the 
ability to increase the Adult Social Care Precept by up to 2%. The MTFP has been updated to 
make use of this flexibility in 2024/25, increasing council tax rates to 4.99% (2.99% plus 2% 
ASC Precept). Previously, the MTFP had assumed a 2.99% increase (1.99% plus 1% ASC 
Precept).  
 
Council Tax base growth is being estimated at 1.31% in 2024/25 (previously assumed at 1.5%) 
based on latest forecast data from district and borough councils, and 1.5% in the years 
thereafter. In addition, early indications from district and borough councils suggest that forecasts 
for increased collection would result in a £4.0m surplus expected within the collection fund in 
2024/25. The assumptions for collection fund deficit/surpluses will be reviewed once final 
estimates are made by district and borough councils and managed through the collection fund 
reserve. 
 
Rother District Council (RDC) is currently consulting on changes to its Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2024/25 which will see a reduction on Council Tax income 
received by the County Council, estimated to be £988,000. The impact of this reduction is 
reflected in the MTFP for 2024/25. The Lead Member for Resources and Climate Change 
agreed the ESCC response to the RDC consultation on 12 December 2023 and RDC will make 
a final decision in due course. 
 

Page 30



CABINET 

B Business Rates Retention 
Business rates have been updated following the Local Government Settlement. Growth is 
currently estimated at 0.4% in 2024/25 and recovering to 0.7% in 2025/26 and 2026/27 (noting 
that the average in a normal year is 0.7%). Business rates will continue to be monitored along 
with the collection fund and reviewed alongside with the district and borough councils’ latest 
collection forecasts to understand any further impacts. 
 

C Business Rates Reset / Reform 
Although Government has previously given a commitment to reform the current local 
government funding regime, it is becoming increasingly likely that a post-election Government 
would struggle to implement any significant funding reforms within the current MTFP period. 
Given the uncertainty of timing and mechanism for a reform, the potential impact of funding 
reform has been removed from the MTFP.  
 

D Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
The revenue support grant was confirmed in the provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement. The government has compensated for the mechanism which creates negative RSG 
in some authorities.  
 
Impact of Local Government Settlement: 
 

E Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and Improvement Funding  
New social care grants were announced on 28 July 2023 (nationally £365m in 2023-24 and 
£205m in 2024-25).  These are the latest tranche of Market Sustainability and Improvement 
Fund (MSIF) grants, with these latest grants focussed on workforce support.  They are 
additional to the grants announced in the 2023-24 settlement intended to “support more 
workforce and capacity within the adult social care sector”. The ASC Workforce Fund will be 
rolled into the larger ASC MSIF grant for 2024/25. It is assumed for planning purposes that this 
grant will be used to fund fee increases to the sector. 
 

F Social Care Grant 
The total available grant has increased by £692m to £4,544m.  ESCC’s share is £45.4m, which 
represents an increase of £1.3m on previous updates to the 2024/25 budget, due to technical 
adjustments to the allocation. 

 

G Services Grant 
As part of the £1.6bn new Government Grant funding announced at Spending Review (SR) 21, 
the Council was allocated a one-year Services Grant of £5.175m. The 2023/24 allocation was 
reduced nationally to £464m, with ESCC share being reduced to £2.916m. The Local 
Government Settlement confirmed that a further allocation would be made in 2024/25, albeit at 
the much lower rate of £77m nationally, with £478,000 to ESCC.  
 
H New Homes Bonus 
The New Homes Bonus was confirmed in the Local Government Settlement and is £554,000 for 
ESCC in 2024/25.   
 
I Confirmation of Business Rates Pool in 2024/25 
It was confirmed at the provisional settlement that the business rates pooling arrangements will 
be allowable in 2024/25. Proceeds of pooling have been updated using published information 
from district and borough councils. 
 

J Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) Inflation for Contracts (normal and 
contract specific)  
The OBR published its updated forecast inflation rates as part of its latest outlook for the 
economy and public finances on 22 November to coincide with the Autumn Statement. As is 

Page 31



CABINET 

normal practice these figures have been used to inform the proposed budgets. The table below 
shows the changes in OBR inflation estimates from its previous publication in March 2023. 

 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Mar 23 Nov 23 Mar 23 Nov 23 Mar 23 Nov 23 

CPI 0.57% 3.33% 0.02% 1.60% 0.67% 1.43% 

RPI 1.19% 4.76% 0.97% 2.40% 1.88% 2.55% 

RPIX 0.59% 3.65% 0.81% 2.10% 1.75% 2.30% 

Inflation estimates are as of September of each calendar year to provide the best mid-point 
within each financial year.  
 
The normal update includes inflation increases from 2024/25 onwards. Normal practice is that, 
in year, services would be expected to manage movement in actual inflation through 
contract/budget management and the pressures protocol.  
 
K Waste PFI Model: Additional Income 
Updates to the Waste Private Finance Initiative (PFI) model have been reviewed and it is 
considered reasonable to release additional income from electricity generation and recycling to 
the MTFP for one year, rather than setting aside the Waste PFI reserve to mitigate service risks. 
 
L Impact of National Living Wage  
It was announced in the Autumn Statement that the National Living Wage will increase to £11.44 
for workers 21 years and over (an increase of 9.8%). This will add significant financial costs to 
the wider social care provider market, increasing the financial pressure on Children’s Services 
and Adult Social Care via increased fees.  
 
M Further investment in Looked After Children (LAC) 
Further modelling has been undertaken to project the demand for LAC placements in 2024/25 
and beyond following the latest position as set out in the Q2 monitoring.  
 
N Reprofile of Public Health Investments 
A review of Public Health investment has enabled the Public Health Grant to be reprofiled to 
supported Early Years Services, in line with the Public Health Outcomes Framework. 
 
O CET: Waste Housing Growth 
The Waste Model has been updated for the latest housing growth estimates. 
 
P Treasury Management 
The Treasury Management (TM) position has been reviewed taking a holistic approach to 
consider the impact of interest rates increasing returns on investments, and the impact of 
proposed capital programme updates to a more affordable level, allowing reduction in external 
borrowing over the MTFP period. More details are provided in the capital programme update at 
Appendix 9a. The update also includes the delay of the IFRS9 override – the point at which the 
Council will be required to realise losses on a specific class of investment.  
 
Q Pay Award  
This update includes the ongoing impact of the 2023/24 pay award, which was assumed at 5% 
in the MTFP, releasing an estimated at £1.2m. In addition, the pay award assumed has been 
maintained at 3% in 2024/25 but reduced to 2.5% thereafter (previously assumed at 3% in all 
years). 
 
R Levies Increase 
The figures are reflective of the latest estimates of the Flood and Coastal Protection Levy, 
Sussex Inshore Fisheries Levy and New Responsibilities Funding. 
 
 

Page 32



CABINET 

S General Contingency  
This is calculated at an agreed formula of 1% of net budget less treasury management and 
reflects the impact of the updates above. 
 
Pressures added to / (removed from) the MTFP: 
 
T Pressures Protocol – approved by CMT  
A number of pressures bids have been approved by Corporate Management Team (CMT) for 
inclusion in the MTFP as per the table below. 
 

Ref Description 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

BSD1 Digital Assistant licence 0.062     0.062 

BSD2 Robotic Process Automation licence 0.077     0.077 

BSD3 Tableau licences 0.063     0.063 

GS1 Governance Services 0.117     0.117 

GS2 Coroner’s pathology fees 0.106     0.106 

GS3 Coroner’s Service pressure 0.240     0.240 

Total Pressures Bids 0.665 0.000 0.000 0.665 

 
U One-off use of Financial Management Reserve 

The deficit position on the MTFP requires the use of £14.3m from the Financial Management 
Reserve for a balanced budget to be set.  
 
2024/25 and beyond  
 
2.51 In the Autumn Statement, no funding was announced for upper tier local authorities 
beyond the increases that were already expected. Rather than increasing funding to address 
national pressures in social care and the impact of the National Living Wage, the Government 
has given a steer to councils to draw upon reserves to set a balanced budget in 2024/25 and 
beyond. It is becoming increasingly likely that a post-election Government would struggle to 
implement any significant funding reforms within the current MTFP period. 
 
2.52  The MTFP deficit by 2026/27 is estimated at £61.8m. This is not a sustainable position. 
In order to address the position, the Council will need to instigate work to identify a range of 
actions that it will need to take to set a balanced budget for 2025/26, without the need to draw 
on reserves. 
 
Council Tax requirement 
 
2.53 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2024/25 provided the ability for 
an additional 1% Council Tax increase and an additional 1% Adult Social Care Precept in 
2024/25 over and above the 1.99% Council Tax increase and 1% ASC Precept previously 
assumed in the MTFP. This makes a total maximum of 2.99% Council Tax and 2% ASC 
precept available in 2024/25 without a referendum. Considering the pressures in social care, 
and lack of government funding to address these, it is proposed that this additional flexibility be 
included.  
 
2.54 It is therefore proposed that the County Council be asked to consider increasing Council 
Tax in 2024/25 by 4.99% (2.99% Council Tax plus 2.0% Adult Social Care Precept). If agreed, 
the proposed band D charge for 2024/25 would therefore be: 
 
 
 

Page 33



CABINET 

Changes in Council Tax £ per house at Band D 

 Council Tax 
Annual 

Council Tax 
Weekly 

Band D 2023/24 £1,693.80 £32.57 

Council Tax increase* £50.67 £0.97 

Adult Social Care Precept* 2.0% £33.84 £0.65 

Indicative Band D 2024/25* £1,778.31 £34.20 

* Council Tax is rounded to allow all bands to be calculated in whole pounds and pence. 
 
2.55 The formal precept notices for issue to the borough and district councils will follow the 
formal recommendation by County Council. The final figures on council tax Collection Fund 
have been provided by Borough and District Councils by the end of January 2024. The updated 
precept calculation is set out at Appendix 6.  

Capital Programme 

2.56 Through the RPPR process the Capital Strategy and programme are reviewed annually 
to ensure that they support the Council’s responsibilities and departmental service strategies. 
To manage investment to a sustainable level, the Capital Strategy focuses on the delivery of 
targeted basic need for the Council to continue to deliver services as efficiently as possible. 
 
2.57 The current approved programme has now been updated to include normal updates in 
accordance with Capital Strategy principles and additional investment proposals considered by 
CMT. The planning horizon has also been extended to 2033/34 to maintain the 10 year 
programme. 
 
2.58 The challenging revenue budget position, referenced throughout this report, has 
required the capital programme to be reviewed to minimise the borrowing costs of the overall 
capital programme within Treasury Management and the revenue budget. The review has 
reduced and re-profiled programmes and schemes over the 10 year programme.  
 
2.59 As a result, the level of investment in assets that support the objectives of the Council 
Plan, whilst maintained above grant funding levels, will not be able to be delivered to the level 
originally envisaged between 2023/24 and 2026/27.  

2.60 It is proposed that a capital programme of £301.0m be set over the MTFP period from 
2023/24 to 2026/27 (current year plus three), requiring £70.2m of borrowing, with the remaining 
years to 2033/34 being indicative to represent longer term planning. The update to the capital 
programme can be found at Appendix 9a.  
 
2.61  The Council’s 20 year Capital Strategy recommended for approval can be found at 
Appendix 9c. The Capital Strategy covers the period 2024/25 to 2044/45 and has been updated 
to reflect emerging risks, principles and corporate priorities. The strategy has been revised to 
acknowledge that capital investment decisions have a direct impact on the Council’s revenue 
budget, particularly relating to borrowing costs, and are therefore to be considered in the 
context of their impact on revenue budget and wider Council financial position. 
 
Robustness and Reserves 
 
2.62 At Full Council in February 2023 there was an estimated total reserves balance of 
£83.4m by March 2027. Following usual updates, the balance at 31 March 2028 is now 
estimated at £83.8m. 
 
2.63 The projected balance of the Financial Management reserve also includes the planned 
draw of £14.3m to cover the budget deficit in 2024/25. The current reserves position is 
summarised in the table below. Total service and strategic reserves are projected to be £41.7m 
by 2028. This compares with a cumulative deficit of £61.8m by 2026/27, which underlines the 
need for actions to be taken if Government funding is not forthcoming: 

Page 34



CABINET 

 
 
 
 
 

    01.04.23 
Actuals 
per Q2 
Cabinet 
Report 

Estimated 
Balance at 
31.03.27 
per Full 
Council 
Feb 23 

  
Full Council 

February 2024 (£m) 

      
01.04.24 
Estimate 

31.03.28 
Estimate 

Earmarked Reserves:             

Held on behalf of others or statutorily ringfenced   34.9 33.9   32.3 32.1 

Named Service Reserves             

Waste Reserve  19.9 7.5   19.4 8.9 

Capital Programme Reserve  13.4 0.3   9.4 0.5 

Insurance Reserve   7.4 7.1   7.5 7.3 

Adult Social Care Reform Reserve   3.1 0.0   3.1 0.0 

Subtotal named service reserves   43.8 14.9   39.4 16.7 

Strategic Reserves             

Priority Outcomes and Transformation   17.4 2.1   5.9 5.6 

Financial Management    41.9 22.5   31.8 19.4 

Subtotal strategic reserves   59.3 24.6   37.7 25.0 

Total Earmarked Reserves   138.0 73.4   109.4 73.8 

              

General Fund Balance   10.0 10.0   10.0 10.0 

              

TOTAL RESERVES    148.0 83.4   119.4 83.8 

 
2.64 A lack of Government funding to address pressures in social care, instead asking 
councils to use reserves to mitigate pressures, means that we are using significant reserves to 
balance the budget for 2024/25, which will constrain the Council’s ability to use reserves to 
manage future financial risk. Furthermore, the Council has had to abandon its usual approach 
of maintaining reserves to help future proof Council services from unforeseen risks. 
 
2.65 Details of the reserves held, and the Chief Finance Officer Statement on Reserves and 
Budget Robustness, are set out in Appendix 7. 
 
 
Engagement Feedback  
 
2.66 The views of the Scrutiny Committees are set out in Appendix 8. The views of partners,  
young people, Trades Unions and business ratepayers are also included in the appendix.  
 
2.67 Cabinet agreed in September to undertake a public engagement exercise to seek 
additional feedback directly from local people on the Council’s priorities and financial choices as 
part of planning for 2024/25 and beyond. This survey was open to everyone living, working or 
visiting in East Sussex to respond to for six weeks from 30 October to 10 December and 
received 2153 responses. A summary of the public survey feedback is also included in 
Appendix 8, to be considered alongside our RPPR engagement with key partners and groups 
representing local communities.  
 

Page 35



CABINET 

Equalities  
 
2.68 An initial Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) of each of the revenue savings proposals 
has been undertaken and is set out in Appendix 5. Further EqIAs will be undertaken where 
appropriate when individual proposals are being considered.  
 
2.69 All proposed capital spending has been subject to an initial equalities assessment to 
identify potential impacts on people sharing legally protected characteristics and to identify 
whether a detailed EqIA is required (including if one has already been completed or is planned). 
Where the need for further equality assessment has been identified, this will be undertaken 
when individual proposals are being planned in more detail, to enable accurate analysis. A 
summary of the equality consideration of proposed capital spending is set out in Appendix 9b 
and where a detailed EqIA has been completed it is available to Members.  
 
2.70 In considering the proposals in this report, Members are required to have ‘due regard’ to 
the duties set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (the Public Sector Equality Duty) as 
summarised in Appendix 9b. EqIAs are carried out to identify any adverse impacts that may 
arise as a result of proposals for people sharing legally protected characteristics and to identify 
appropriate mitigations. The full version of relevant completed EqIAs for capital projects are 
available on the Council pages of the County Council’s website. They can be inspected upon 
request at County Hall. Members must read the full version of the EqIAs and take their findings 
into consideration when determining these proposals. 
 
2.71 Whilst the County Council is being asked to agree the revenue budget and capital 
programme, the budget decision does not constitute final approval of what policies would be or 
what sums of money will be saved or spent under the service proposals. The recommendations 
in the report do not commit the Council to implement any specific saving or spending proposal. 
When the Executive come to make specific decisions on budget reductions or expenditure, 
where necessary, focussed consultations and the full equalities implications of doing one thing 
rather than another will be considered in appropriate detail. If it is considered necessary, in light 
of equalities or other considerations, it will be open to those taking the decisions to spend more 
on one activity and less on another within the overall resources available to the Council.  
 
Fees and Charges 
 
2.72 The Chief Finance Officer is delegated to approve all fees and charges and to report to 
Cabinet and County Council those set at a level above inflation; a reasonable inflation level with 
regard to the Consumer Price Index (CPI), Retail Price Index (RPI) and pay inflation. CPI was 
measured at 3.9% in November 2023 and RPI at 5.3%. As such, it has been determined that 
fees increasing above 4.0% be reported. Appendix 10 is for noting and shows a schedule of the 
fees and charges approved at quarter 3 that have increased by more than 4.0%.   
 
Conclusion 
 
2.73 This Council has a firm foundation of sound and prudent financial management over 
many years, endorsed by external assessments. We have taken difficult decisions when we 
needed to in order to balance the books and make best use of stretched resources. Our robust 
RPPR process has enabled us to direct spending towards priorities and core services, in 
particular protecting services for the most vulnerable in our county.  
 
2.74 The past year has seen a rapid escalation in costs and demand for services, due to 
factors beyond local control, which has not been matched with increased funding. Despite the 
action we have taken locally to address pressures wherever we can, the scale of these 
challenges leaves us facing a very significant deficit and substantial risk in the coming years. 
There also remains considerable uncertainty about the future funding regime for local 
government, particularly when overdue reform which will provide sustainable long-term 
financing for the sector will be delivered. 

Page 36



CABINET 

 
2.75 There is continued national reliance on raising funding for core pressures, particularly 
growing demand in social care, through local Council Tax which is unrelated to need and 
unsustainable. In this context we must again ask local people to contribute more to protect 
services for the most vulnerable for the future. This recommendation is not made lightly, given 
the ongoing pressures on household budgets, but it is essential if we are to protect services as 
far as possible. Support will continue to be available through local Council Tax Support 
Schemes for those residents eligible and we will continue to work with partners to signpost 
residents to sources of support with the cost of living, including access to benefits they may be 
entitled to.  
 
2.76 Even after this contribution, the budget presented for the year ahead relies on using our 
reserves to balance the books, significantly depleting this safety net for the future. This is an 
unsustainable position. The reality is that there are not sufficient reserves available to meet the 
deferred deficit and we will need to consider what action it is possible to take in the coming year 
to address the significant financial gap between the funding we currently expect to have and the 
cost of providing our services in 2025/26 and beyond. Our ability to do so without a detrimental 
impact on the quality of life of our residents, communities and business is very limited. 
 
2.77 In this context, and with future national policy being shaped ahead of a general election, 
our lobbying will also be vitally important and we will consider how this can be further intensified 
and broadened. We will need to ensure the hard choices we now face and the impacts these 
will have on local residents, business and communities are heard loud and clear. We will 
continue to work with our local, regional and national partners to highlight the specific needs of 
East Sussex. We will press for immediate short-term support and longer-term fair, sustainable 
and needs-based funding that enables us to continue to meet the needs of our residents. Until 
this is delivered our medium term financial position will remain extremely difficult and present 
significant risk to our ability to meet local needs in the future.  
 
2.78 The Cabinet recommends the County Council to: 
 
  (1) approve in principle the draft Council Plan 2024/25 at Appendix 2 and authorise the 

Chief Executive to finalise the Plan in consultation with the relevant Lead Members; 
 

 (2) approve the net Revenue Budget estimate of £538.1m for 2024/25 set out in 
Appendix 3 (Medium Term Financial Plan) and Appendix 4 (Budget Summary) and 
authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, Leader 
and Deputy Leader, to make adjustments to the presentation of the Budget 
Summary to reflect the final settlement and final budget decisions; 

 
 (3) in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to agree that: 

 
(i) the net budget requirement is £538.1m and the amount calculated by 

East Sussex County Council as its council tax requirement (see Appendix 
6) for the year 2024/25 is £371m; 

(ii) the amount calculated by East Sussex County Council as the basic 
amount of council tax (i.e. for a band D property) for the year 2024/25 is 
£1,778.31 and represents a 4.99% (2% of which relates to the Adult 
Social Care precept) increase on the previous year; 
 

(4) advise the District and Borough Councils of the relevant amounts payable and 
council tax in other bands in line with the regulations and to issue precepts 
accordingly in accordance with an agreed schedule of instalments as set out at 
Appendix 6. 

 
(5) agree the Reserves Policy set out in Appendix 7; 

 
Page 37



CABINET 

(6) approve the Capital Strategy and Programme at Appendix 9; 
 

(7) note progress with the Council Plan and Budget 2023/24 since quarter 2 set out in 
paragraphs 2.36 to 2.42; 

 
(8) note the Medium Term Financial Plan forecast for 2024/25 to 2026/27, set out in 

Appendix 3;  

(9) note the comments of the Chief Finance Officer on budget risks and robustness, 

as set out in Appendix 7;  

(10) note the comments from engagement exercises set out in Appendix 8; and 

(11) note the schedule of fees and charges that have increased above 4% at Appendix 

10. 

 
3. Council Monitoring: Quarter 2 2023/24 

 

3.1 This report sets out the Council’s position and year-end projections for the Council Plan 
targets, Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, and Savings Plan, together with Risks at the end 
of September 2023. 

3.2 Broad progress against the Council’s four strategic priority outcomes is summarised in 
paragraphs 3.13 to 3.31 and an overview of finance and performance data is provided in the 
Corporate Summary at Appendix 12. Strategic risks are reported at Appendix 19. 

Council Plan 2023/24 amendments and variations 

 
3.3 The Council Plan 2023/24 and the Portfolio Plans 2023/24 – 2025/26 have been 
updated with available 2022/23 outturns and final performance measure targets. All plans are 
published on the Council’s website. The Corporate Summary (Appendix 12) contains a forecast 
of performance against targets. 

3.4 The Strategic Risk Register, Appendix 19, was reviewed and updated to reflect the 
Council’s risk profile. Risk 1 (Roads), Risk 4 (Health), Risk 6 (Local Economic Growth), Risk 9 
(Workforce), Risk 12 (Cyber Attack), Risk 15 (Climate), Risk 18 (Data Breach) and Risk 20 
(Placements for Children and Young People in Our Care) have updated risk controls. 

Budget Outturn 

 
3.5 The details of revenue over and underspends in each department are set out in the 
relevant appendices, and show a total forecast overspend of £24.8m. This is an increase of 
£8.0m from quarter 1. The main headlines are: 

 Children’s Services (CSD) is forecast to be overspent by £23.0m (£15.2m at quarter 1). The 
main area of projected overspend is in Early Help and Social Care (EH&SC) of £23.3m, an 
increase from quarter 1 of £6.9m. The largest area of overspend within EH&SC is Looked 
After Children (LAC) at £21.1m, with the main LAC pressures being External Residential 
costs of £17.7m, due to growth in demand during quarter 1, plus a £2.5m pressure around 
additional staffing costs in our children’s homes. Also, within EH&SC, the Localities budget 
is forecast to overspend by £2.5m, with £1.5m of this being on staffing including agency and 
additional social workers. 

The increase in projected overspend at quarter 2 compared to quarter 1 is mainly in looked 
after children’s care costs, in particular in external residential costs and wrap around 
support for children with the most complex needs. June saw the numbers of children and 
young people requiring residential placements, which includes supported accommodation 
and secure accommodation, peak at 150 (excluding Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 

Page 38



CABINET 

Children (UASC)). The number of children and young people in these types of placements 
has plateaued in quarter 2, with September data showing a slight reduction to 144. 
However, the average cost of residential care packages has increased by 13% since 
quarter 1. The complex care needs of a relatively small number of children mean that there 
are further pressures on this budget area. Over the course of the year to date there have 
been 29 looked after children who have had at some time care packages between £10,000 - 
£20,000 per week; at the end of quarter 2 there were 12 children whose care costs fell in 
this bracket. 

CSD is reviewing closely all expenditure plans to identify possible reductions of the 
projected overspend. Work with the consultancy Impower to identify ways of meeting the 
needs of looked after children better, more locally and at reduced cost continues. At present 
no formal service reductions/savings are being explored but all possible economies are 
being pursued including delayed recruitment to vacancies where manageable. 

 
The CSD overspend will be funded Corporately for 2023/24 as follows: 

Funding of CSD Pressures  £m 

Forecast overspend (23.0) 

Funded by:   

General Contingency 4.9 

Covid-19 General Funding (balance held Corporately) 5.6 

Use of provision for budgetary risks 3.5 

Part of Treasury Management underspend 5.7 

Balance of Contain Outbreak Management Fund 1.6 

Use of Financial Management Reserve 1.7 

Total 23.0 

 The projected outturn for Adult Social Care (ASC) is an overspend of £1.7m (£1.0m at 
quarter 1). This comprises an overspend of £2.4m in the Independent Sector, due to a 
combination of factors. These include increasing complexity of need, plus pressures arising 
from demand and demographic growth returning to pre-pandemic levels of modelling. This 
is offset by an underspend of £0.7m in Directly Provided Services, mainly being due to 
staffing vacancies which reflects difficulties in recruitment. 

 Communities, Economy and Transport (CET) is forecast to underspend by £0.2m (£0.3m 
overspend at quarter 1). The largest underspend is in Transport and Operations where 
current market prices mean that electricity and recycling income is exceeding expectations 
in the Waste Service. 

 The forecast overspend of £0.4m in Governance Services (GS) is mainly due to an increase 
in mortuary, pathology, histology, and toxicology costs, plus an increase in post mortem 
fees in-line with local market rates.  

3.6 Within Treasury Management (TM), centrally held budgets (CHB) and corporate funding 
there is an underspend of £15.7m (including the general contingency): 

 In CHB there is a forecast underspend of £0.5m for Pensions because of the actuarial 
revaluation. This is offset by an accounting adjustment estimated at £0.7m to reflect the 
potential risk that increasing outstanding debt levels will not be settled. The General 
Contingency of £4.9m will be required in full to offset part of the service overspend. 

 There is currently an estimated £7.1m underspend on TM, based on a continued 
improvement in the current forecasts for our market investment returns and increased cash 
balances. The anticipated average investment return for the year has increased to 5.49% 
from the 4.45% assumed when the budget was set, based on the latest forecasts from our 

Page 39



CABINET 

external treasury management advisors. In addition, slippage on the capital programme and 
an increase in our cash balances has reduced the need to borrow externally in 2023/24.  

 There is a planned £3.5m use of the in-year provision made for budgetary risks to cover part 
of the remaining overspend on service budgets. 

3.7 The Council is still experiencing residual COVID-19 related costs and income losses 
which are being mitigated from general and specific COVID-19 grant funding. The balance of 
COVID-19 General Funding will be used to meet CSD cost pressures. The following table 
shows the use of this funding in 2023/24: 

COVID-19 Grants 2023/24 
(£m) 

Carried 
forward  

Estimated 
use in-year 
(including 
payback*) 

Balance to 
offset CSD 
overspend 

Specific 
set-aside 

for LAC in 
future 
years 

Estimated 
balance 

remaining 

COVID-19 General Funding 9.1 (1.7) (5.6) (1.8) - 

COVID-19 Specific Funding 4.3 (4.3) - - - 

Total funding 13.4 (6.0) (5.6) (1.8) - 

*To date the Council has repaid £2.1m of unused grant 

3.8 The Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) grant, via Public Health, has also 
been available through the pandemic to fund the impact of COVID-19. Services continue to feel 
the impact of the pandemic, particularly in CSD. With the grant funding ending, it is 
recommended that the remaining COMF grant be used to fund any residual pressures arising 
from COVID-19 in CSD, any decisions for its use will be taken in accordance with existing 
delegations or following consideration by members. 

3.9 For the last three years the council has made ‘Additional Measures’ (AM) payments to 
Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) organisations towards activities that 
provide specialist advice and information that support residents’ financial wellbeing during the 
current cost of living challenges. In 2023/24 year the AM3 scheme of £450,000 is funded from 
the COMF and is used to commission 11 organisations who are monitored against a number of 
performance and activity measures on a quarterly basis. In the first two quarters of 2023/24 
AM3 direct delivery partners have collectively worked on 2,350 active cases and achieved a 
combined total income maximisation and debt write-off figure of £1,077,800, which has had a 
significant positive impact on residents’ financial wellbeing. The monitoring returns also include 
case study examples which demonstrate the qualitative impact including the wider health and 
wellbeing benefits of financial wellbeing and stability. 

3.10 VCSE partners continue to experience increased numbers of people presenting with 
money problems of significant complexity, since COVID-19 and due to ongoing cost-of-living 
pressures. The Additional Measures scheme supports the sector to meet this elevated demand 
for money advice and related support and, as such, needs to be extended for one further 
financial year (AM4) at a reduced level of £363,000. Cabinet is recommended to extend the 
Additional Measures scheme for another twelve months from 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2025, 
funded from existing COMF balances. Details of how the reduced level of AM4 funding would 
be allocated, together with the approach to demand mitigation and management are contained 
at Appendix 20. 

3.11 Capital Programme expenditure for the year is projected to be £82.6m against a budget 
of £110.3m, a net variation of £27.7m. The main headlines are: 

 Total slippage of £28.8m across a number of projects as the programme continues to 
experience extended lead-in times on some materials, and where inflation and material cost 
increases has resulted in the pause and reassessment of a number of projects to ensure 
delivery within budgets, as well as other project specific factors. The largest areas of 
slippage include the delivery of additional Special Educational Needs school places at Grove 
Park (£5.3m), Hastings and Bexhill Movement and Access Programme (£4.3m), Eastbourne 

Page 40



CABINET 

Town Centre phases A and B (combined £3.6m) and the Street Lighting Replacement 
Programme (£2.7m). 

 A net overspend of £0.7m, mainly relating to the Bexhill and Hastings Link Road where 
project costs remain for post excavation archaeology, landscaping, and compensation.  

 Minor spend in advance totalling £0.4m. 

Whilst the implications of slippage in the capital programme are being managed in this financial 
year, work has commenced to reprofile the capital programme for 2024/25 onwards, as part of 
the Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources process.  

3.12 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy published the revised 
Treasury and Prudential codes in 2021. These require quarterly reporting of performance 
against forward looking prudential indicators. The performance of the Council’s treasury 
management activity against benchmarks and the key indicators in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy, as approved by Full Council on 7 February 2023, are provided at 
Appendix 13. 

Progress against Council Priorities 

Driving sustainable economic growth 
 

3.13 The Council has spent £309m with 876 local suppliers over the past 12 months. This is 
65% of our total spend and exceeds our target of 60%. We continued throughout quarter 2 to 
work with suppliers to maximise the social value delivered by our contracts. In quarter 2 we 
achieved benefits that were equal to 37% of the contract value, against a target of 10% 
(Appendix 15). 

3.14 Work on our highways continued in quarter 2 using the additional funding approved by 
Council in recognition of the deterioration of the network following the last prolonged, wet and 
cold winter. 36 patch works have been completed so far in 2023/24. A further 269 sites have 
been identified for patch works which should be completed by the end of 2023/24. Around 100 
road signs are programmed to be replaced in 2023/24, with a further 600 signs which require 
replacement identified. These 600 signs will be scheduled into the work programme in the 
upcoming months. 100 minor drainage schemes have been completed so far in 2023/24, 
including replacing jammed gully covers and clearing significant blockages. The annual road 
surface dressing programme was completed in quarter 2. 17 sites were completed, extending 
the life of almost 30km of roads by up to 10 years. 32 road improvement schemes were 
completed in quarter 2, and 7,217 potholes were repaired (Appendix 17). 

3.15 £10.5m of bus service improvements began in quarter 2 as part of the Council’s Bus 
Service Improvement Plan. These improvements will result in more frequent services, including 
running later in the day, and improvements to some weekend services. Work has continued to 
improve bus stops around the county. Around 75% of all bus stops now have QR plates, which 
enable people to scan the plate and receive information about the next bus due at that stop 
(Appendix 17). 

3.16 East Sussex Invest provides loans and grants to local businesses to help create local 
jobs and support businesses to become environmentally responsible. Applications for funding 
have been temporarily suspended while a full independent review of the fund used for these 
activities is completed. This review will help is to understand how we can best maximise the use 
of the fund whilst carefully balancing risk. This review has been commissioned and we expect to 
receive findings in quarter 3. We anticipate the fund will open again in quarter 4, which means it 
is unlikely that we will be able to support enough businesses to create jobs in 2023/24 to meet 
the target for this measure (Appendix 17). 

3.17 Our restructured education division, Education East Sussex, was launched in quarter 2. 
The new division will help the Council to deliver its core roles more effectively in leading the 
local education system and championing vulnerable children including children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (Appendix 16). 

Page 41



CABINET 

3.18 7,198 children took part in the Summer Reading Challenge during quarter 2, the highest 
total since 2018. The challenge aims to encourage primary school children to read books during 
the summer holidays. 110 promotional assemblies were delivered to promote the challenge and 
advertisements ran throughout the summer on social media. 4,258 participants completed the 
challenge, a 23% increase compared to 2022 (Appendix 17). 

Keeping vulnerable people safe 

 
3.19 The demand for Children’s Social Care services and the complexity of cases has 
continued to increase in quarter 2. The rate of children with a Child Protection plan increased 
from 62.1 per 10,000 at the end of quarter 1 to 63.0 at the end of quarter 2. The rate of Looked 
after Children has also increased from 63.5 per 10,000 children at the end of quarter 1 to 64.4 
at the end of quarter 2. Child Protection plans remain under close scrutiny with a range of 
reviews and audits taking place to identify where it is possible to reduce the number of plans 
safely. Although the rate of Looked after Children has increased, the number of children in high-
cost residential placements has remained stable and there have been higher numbers of 
children placed within their own family networks (Appendix 16). 

3.20 We have published our new Adult Social Care strategy ‘What Matters to You’. This was 
produced following engagement activities and reflects what our residents who need care and 
support, their carers, and their families told us was important to them in order to live well 
(Appendix 14). 

3.21 The Council has continued to increase our collaborative working with our voluntary, 
community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector partners in quarter 2. This included work on 
financial inclusion, supporting Community Networks and supporting volunteering. The 
Community Network programme held a series of Strategic and Local partner group workshops 
in quarter 2, to identify potential areas of support the programme could develop based on the 
needs of the VCSE sector and public sector partners. The Tribe Project also launched during 
quarter 2. Tribe is an app and website that makes it easier to volunteer across the county. 
We’ve continued to work with partners to help them advertise opportunities on the platform, and 
to plan for the next phase of the project which will focus on Social Prescribing (Appendix 14). 

Helping people help themselves 

 
3.22 The Council’s Family Hubs offer has continued to develop in quarter 2. We have 
launched the ‘How Can I Help you?’ service to provide direct face to face support to families 
and encourage them to become familiar with the Family Hubs provision. New parenting groups 
are also now available to support the transition to parenthood and help for parents with children 
who are neurodiverse (Appendix 16). 

3.23 Three road safety infrastructure schemes were completed by Balfour Beatty Living 
Places in quarters 1 and 2. However, Balfour Beatty Living Places have provided assurances 
that the target of 24 high risk schemes will be completed by the end of 2023/24. We delivered 
95 ‘Bikeability’ courses to 712 individuals at participating schools and the Cycle Centre at 
Eastbourne Sports Park in quarter 2. We also delivered 74 ‘Wheels for All’ sessions to 1,097 
attendees at the Sports Park (Appendix 17). 

3.24 A public consultation was launched on the future of the Support with Confidence 
scheme on 27 September which will run until 5 December 2023. As a result of the review we 
are not currently accepting new applications or progressing any renewals (Appendix 14). 

3.25 The number of carers provided with a short-term crisis intervention in quarter 2 
decreased slightly. This was due to a reduction in overall referrals for carer support. We are 
working with the provider to promote the service to other carer organisations (Appendix 14). 

3.26 During quarter 1 (reported a quarter in arrears) 496 NHS Health Checks were delivered 
to those living in the most deprived areas of the county. This was slightly lower than expected 
as Hastings and St Leonards Primary Care Network had a slight pause on activity due to 
capacity in quarter 1. However, the Primary Care Network and Public Health have worked 

Page 42



CABINET 

together to train vaccination staff to deliver Health Checks, with a particular focus on those 
living in the most deprived areas, to boost capacity (Appendix 14). 

Making best use of resources now and for the future 

 
3.27 The financial outlook for the Council continues to remain unclear. We are expecting a 
further one-year financial settlement for 2024/25, and it continues to be unlikely that there will 
be any significant national reform to local government funding before the next general election, 
which is expected in 2024. We continue to take action wherever we can to maximise our 
resilience as an organisation, to work effectively with our partners and to best manage the 
growing demand for our services. At the end of quarter 2 Cabinet considered the report of the 
Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge which underlined the Council’s strong 
record of delivery, the value of our partnership working and our good foundations to plan for the 
longer-term future. Cabinet also agreed the Council’s response to the recommendations, which 
lays out the actions we will take to respond to the suggested areas for development identified 
during the Peer Challenge (Appendix 18). 

3.28 As part of our corporate lobbying work during quarter 2 the Leader took the opportunity 
to meet with local MPs and continued to raise the issues and priorities of the county with them. 
This included a specific update on the State of the County report and an update on the 
additional investment in highways agreed by the Council. The Leader highlighted the very 
challenging medium term financial outlook for the Council and sought MPs’ support in lobbying 
for certainty of future funding for local government, that reflects local need, and to ensure that 
service reforms are sustainable and properly funded (Appendix 18).  

3.29  Seven energy efficiency projects have been completed in quarter 1 and quarter 2, 
including two LED lighting projects and two Solar PV schemes. Triple glazing has been installed 
at one school and several building moves have also reduced emissions. A number of other 
schemes began in quarter 2. Ongoing supply chain and site issues have impacted performance 
and may affect our ability to deliver the target number of schemes for the year. The data on 
carbon emissions from Council buildings is available a quarter in arrears. Total energy 
consumption in quarter 1 (reported a quarter in arrears) was down 8% when compared with the 
same period last year and down 26% on the baseline year 2019/20. There is not yet enough 
data to accurately estimate the end of year outturn for 2023/24, however if consumption for the 
remainder of 2023/24 is the same as 2022/23 carbon emissions would increase by 1% this 
year. The main contributing factor to the increase in emissions projected for 2023/24 is the 
increase in the electricity emissions factor (the carbon intensity of the national grid) has risen 
7% year on year. This is due to an increase in using natural gas for electricity generation and a 
decrease in renewable energy generation, which is out of the Council’s control (Appendix 15). 

3.30 The Council has continued to work with a range of partners to develop and deliver 
carbon reduction and climate change adaptation work in quarter 2. We submitted a £500k bid to 
the next round of the Government’s Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. If successful, this 
will pay for part of the cost of decarbonising two schools. We also secured funding from the 
South East Net Zero Hub for a detailed feasibility study of ground-mounted solar PV at 
Pebsham landfill site (Appendix 17). 

3.31 In September the Pensions Fund Team won the Governance Award at the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Investment Awards 2023 (Appendix 15). 

 
 
4. Scrutiny Review of School Exclusions 
 
4.1 The Cabinet has considered a report of the People Scrutiny Committee on its Review of 
School Exclusions. The report of the Scrutiny Committee is included elsewhere on the agenda 
(item 7).  
 
4.2 In March 2023 the People Scrutiny Committee agreed to establish a Review Board to 

Page 43



CABINET 

undertake a Scrutiny Review of School Exclusions in response to an increase in the number of 
school exclusions in recent years and the disproportionate numbers of vulnerable pupils who 
are subject to exclusion, including those in receipt of free school meals and those who have 
special educational needs (SEN). 
 
4.3 The Review focussed on the Council’s role in developing understanding amongst 
schools of appropriate responses to children at risk of permanent exclusion, including 
vulnerable pupils, as well as whole school approaches and targeted preventative measures. 

 
4.4 The Review considered a range of preventative strategies, including inclusive behaviour 
policies, a focus on whole school relational approaches and support at transition. The Review 
also identified appropriate responses to children who are at risk of exclusion, including those 
who are identified as vulnerable, including the use of youth voice and the effective use of 
alternative provision. The Review also explored how the Council could further develop its 
training and support to schools, trusts and governors, as well as its messaging on the need to 
reduce, and benefits of reducing, school exclusions and the support available. 

 
4.5 The Board found that the Department was progressing a number of projects and 
initiatives to reduce permanent exclusions and concluded that there was a strong commitment 
from most schools and trusts to achieve this. However, the Board learned that schools were 
dealing with increasing demands and complexity of needs of children and their families post 
pandemic, including mental health and SEN. The Board was concerned that some schools were 
using part-time timetables to manage behaviour and concluded that clearer guidance and 
support was needed to help ensure appropriate use of these was consistent across all schools 
and trusts. The Board also found that strong engagement with, and support for, families could 
also benefit pupils at risk and reduce the likelihood of exclusion. 

4.6  The Board recognised the limitations of this Review; the decision to exclude is a school 
one and academies are wholly outside of the remit of the local authority. However, the Board, 
through exploring a range of evidence, including conversations with witnesses and on-site 
school visits, found that the Department could work with schools and trusts to develop 
strategies to reduce the number of suspensions and permanent exclusions and the report 
makes a number of recommendations to help build on existing work in this area.  
 
4.7 In welcoming the findings of the Scrutiny Committee, the Cabinet has considered a 
report by the Director of Children’s Services (as set out in Appendix 21) on the specific 
recommendations and endorsed it as its response to the recommendations.  
 
4.8 The Cabinet, in welcoming the report, recommends the County Council to –  
 

 approve the response of the Director of Children’s Services on the implementation of the 
recommendations in the Scrutiny Committee’s report.  
 

 
 
5. Scrutiny Review of Pothole Management 
 
5.1 The Cabinet has considered a report of the Place Scrutiny Committee on its Review of 
Pothole Management. The report of the Scrutiny Committee is included elsewhere on the 
agenda (item 8).  
 
5.2 In March 2023 the Place Scrutiny Committee established a Review Board to examine 
the Council’s approach to the management of pothole repairs. This was in response to the level 
of concern that was being expressed by residents about the number of potholes and other 
defects in the County’s roads. 

5.3 The scope of the review included: 
Page 44



CABINET 

 Pothole repair techniques and costs;  

 The quality of pothole repair works;  

 Alternative pothole intervention levels and costs;  

 Defect reporting and consideration of current policies to take into account vulnerable 
road users (e.g. those who walk, wheel, cycle, and motorcycle etc.)   

 Consideration of budgets for pothole repairs and safety defects; and  

 Consideration of the effectiveness of the Council’s patching programme. 

 
5.4 The Place Scrutiny Review addressed the following lines of enquiry: 

 How can the Council improve the repair of potholes and tackle pothole clusters; 

 What can we do to have a visibly better highway network; and 

 How can we ensure the needs of vulnerable road users are taken into account in the 
defect reporting system and when carrying out repairs. 

5.5 The Place Scrutiny Committee has completed its review of Pothole Management. The 
review makes thirteen recommendations which address the areas covered by the review. The 
Review Board were mindful of the Council’s financial position when making recommendations 
and has therefore focussed on developing recommendations that are affordable, cost effective, 
and represent value for money. 
 
5.6 Overall the Review Board found that good progress and plans are being made to reduce 
the number of potholes in the County’s roads within the available resources. During the course 
of the review, it became evident that things were changing as a result a proactive ‘right first 
time’ approach to pothole repairs being taken by the highways maintenance contractor, 
changes that had been made to the contract specification and additional investment being 
made in highways maintenance. However, it will take time for the impact of the recent changes 
and additional investment to become apparent, as the planned repair programmes start to be 
delivered. 
 
5.7 In welcoming the findings of the Scrutiny Committee, the Cabinet has considered a 
report by the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport (as set out in Appendix 22) on 
the specific recommendations and endorsed it as its response to the recommendations.  
 
5.8 The Scrutiny Review has highlighted a number of areas for improvement in our 
approach to pothole management and the need to lobby Government for better long-term 
funding for local road maintenance and changes to the way utility company reinstatement works 
are regulated. 
 
 
5.9 The Cabinet, in welcoming the report, recommends the County Council to –  
 

 approve the response of the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport on the 
implementation of the recommendations in the Scrutiny Committee’s report.  

 
 

 
6. Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2024/25 
 
6.1 The Cabinet considered a report proposing the Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2024/25. The Council is also required to set Prudential 
Indicators as set out in the Prudential Code which are included in the strategy for approval. The 
Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Statement is attached as Appendix 23. This 

Page 45



CABINET 

includes the Treasury Management Policy Statement, the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, the Annual Investment Strategy, Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next 
three years and the annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement. 

6.2 The 2024/25 TMSS has been prepared within the context the financial challenge being 
faced by the County Council over the Medium Term Financial Plan. The treasury management 
strategy for the year seeks to compliment the Council Plan by: 

 maximising investment income by seeking ways to increase cash balances. The work 
being undertaken to review the profile of the Capital Programme will assist with this to 
reduce borrowing and delay expenditure; 

 utilising cash balances to fund the Council’s borrowing need in order to minimise 
borrowing costs as far as possible; 

 ensuring the investment portfolio is working hard to maximise income by seeking 
appropriate investment opportunities that meet the Council’s security requirements 
during 2024/25; 

 ensuring effective management of the borrowing portfolio by exploring rescheduling 
opportunities and identifying and exploiting the most cost effective ways of funding the 
Council’s borrowing requirement. 

6.3 The 2024/25 Investment Strategy has been set in the context of improved investment 
returns as a result of increases in the Bank of England (BofE) Base Rate. The Base Rate is 
expected to have peaked at its current rate of 5.25%, with markets and economists’ current 
expectation that rates will start to fall as early as June 2024 as the BofE is expected to tighten 
monetary policy in order to contain the impact of a recession. At the time of writing, Link Asset 
Services are forecasting that Monetary Policy Committee will maintain Base Rate at 5.25% until 
September 2024. The investment performance for 2024/25 is therefore forecast at 5.00%. The 
average rate of return for 2022/23 was 1.89% and for the first six months of 2023/24 was 
4.47%. 

6.4 The Strategy is also being set in the context of the Council’s deficit revenue budget 
forecast for 2023/24 and medium-term financial plan for 2024/25 to 2026/27. Annex F of 
Appendix 23 outlines the context for the outlook of Local Government finances in general. 
Additionally, Paragraph 6.2 outlines the principles that will be applied during the year to ensure 
the Investment Strategy appropriately contributes to mitigating the Council’s deficit revenue 
position. Cash balances and therefore investment balances are expected to reduce to support 
the authority’s borrowing need. However, in this context, the Council’s risk appetite for 
investments will not be modified to increase income. The strategy will continue to prioritise 
security of the Council’s funds. New investment options will be explored within the current risk 
appetite and strategy parameters.  

6.5 There are no changes proposed in the Annual Investment Strategy for 2024/25. 

6.6 Officers continue to seek out Environmental Social & Governance (ESG) investment 
opportunities with counterparties that meet the Council’s investment parameters. The Council 
continues to invest in Standard Chartered’s sustainable fixed deposits which aligns the 
Council’s investments with the bank’s ESG strategy. There are currently limited available 
products within the market that meet both the Council’s security requirements and the Council’s 
shortened investment time horizon due to the strategy to use cash to initially fund the Council’s 
borrowing requirement. Nevertheless, appropriate ESG investment products will continue to be 
researched and considered into 2024/25.  

6.7 The Borrowing Strategy and the Capital Programme identifies a borrowing need of £94m 
over the next 3 years (between 2024/25 and 2026/27). This level of borrowing is following a 
review and reprofiling of the Capital Programme. The objective of the review was to minimise 
the borrowing costs within the Treasury Management revenue budget. This review has reduced 
the borrowing requirement by £48m from £142m originally planned for the period between 
2024/25 and 2026/27.  

Page 46



CABINET 

6.8  Officers will seek to use cash from the Council’s own reserves to initially fund 
borrowing. This will decrease the Council’s cash balances, reducing counterparty risk, and 
reduce borrowing costs. Modelling of the Council’s capital plans and cashflows has identified an 
appropriate level of internal borrowing of around £50m in the longer term. This has been 
increased to £75m to 2024/25 on the basis that it is preferable to maximise internal borrowing 
as far as possible at a time where interest rates are higher. This strategy will be kept under 
constant review as there are risks that are required to be managed and balanced during the 
year. The Capital Programme will need to be funded in the most cost-effective way. Maximising 
internal borrowing will reduce investment balances and therefore investment income. Therefore 
officers will review the interest rate forecast, cashflow needs, the revenue deficit and the Capital 
Programme to ensure this remains the most appropriate strategy through the year.   

6.9 The budget within the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is calculated using the 
Treasury Management Tool that reflects the costs of borrowing in support of the targeted basic 
need programme offset by returns on investment of the Council’s balances. It is therefore 
reflective of a point in time. The treasury management tool, developed as part of the Capital 
Strategy, is reviewed regularly for reasonableness. 
 
6.10 The liability benchmark in Section 2.3 of Appendix 23 demonstrates that if the Council 
were to internally borrow to utilise its cash-backed reserves and balances whilst maintaining a 
buffer for cash requirements, external borrowing could be avoided until 2027/28. This indicator 
will be used to assist with future borrowing decisions, in conjunction with the Treasury 
management Tool. 

6.11 The Treasury Management budget within the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
supports the cost of borrowing which includes MRP provision and interest.  The budget has 
been reviewed to take into account the impact of proposed updates to the Capital Strategy and 
programme. It is proposed that a reduction of £2.850m is made to the Treasury Management 
budget in 2024/25. With interest rates expected to normalise at a lower level in the medium 
term, alongside increasing costs of capital programme borrowing, it is modelled that increases 
to the budget will be required in future years. Due to the Council’s challenging revenue budget 
position, the capital programme will continue to be reviewed to minimise the borrowing costs of 
the overall capital programme within Treasury Management and the revenue budget. 

6.12   In addition to the annual strategy, the CIPFA Code requires the Council to report (as a 
minimum) a mid-year review and an annual report at the close of the year. The Council meets 
this requirement with the Treasury Management Annual Report 2022/23 and mid-year report 
2023/24 presented to Cabinet on 12 December 2023. Additionally, the treasury management 
quarterly monitoring position is reported to Cabinet as part of the Reconciling, Policy, 
Performance and Resources quarterly monitoring. 
 
6.13  The Council takes advice from Link Asset Services on its treasury management 
activities.  A detailed view of the current economic situation and forecasts, as prepared by Link 
Asset Services is included in Appendix 23 (Annex B) to this report. 
 
6.14 The Cabinet recommends the County Council to –  
 

  (1)  approve the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Statement for 2024/25; 

       (2)  approve the Annual Investment Strategy for 2024/25; 

(3)  approve the Prudential and Treasury Indicators 2024/25 to 2026/27; and  

 (4) approve the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 2024/25 at 

section 3 of Appendix 23 of the report. 

 
7. The Conservators of Ashdown Forest – 2023/24 forecast outturn position and 

updated medium term financial plan including the 2024/25 budget. 

 

Page 47



CABINET 

7.1 The Cabinet considered a report, at Appendix 24, which sets out the financial position of 
the Conservators of the Ashdown Forest (COAF) for 2023/24, against the approved budget 
agreed by the Board of Conservators at their meeting on 21 November 2022 and presented to 
Cabinet in December 2022. It also shows the COAF Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).  
 
7.2 The 2022/23 original budget set out a deficit budget of £114,506, being a surplus on the 
Core Budget of £25,097, and a deficit on the Countryside Stewardship (CS) budget of 
£139,603. At the end of September there is a forecast surplus of £12,413 in the Core budget, a 
small decrease in planned surplus.  
 
7.3 Core budget expenditure is higher than budgeted. Operational expenses have 
increased, mostly due to the inclusion of the new lead warden salary costs, car park expenses, 
and the need to undertake additional health and safety training. There was an unbudgeted 
capital purchase of a new vehicle. The cost of the vehicle was funded by grant income which 
along with additional funding from Wealden District Council for a new lead warden, and car 
parking income, has resulted in projected Core unrestricted funding being much higher than 
forecast.  
 
7.4 The current 2023/24 Core budget projections indicate that no additional contribution 
from ESCC will be required. 
 
7.5 The current Countryside Stewardship (CS) budget is forecast to overspend by £55,610 
this year. This is less than the budgeted overspend of £139,603 and reflects the difficulties that 
have been had securing contractors to undertake works on the forest. The deficit will be funded 
from the CS reserve. 
 
7.6 The COAF 2024/25 budget and MTFP is shown at Appendix 24. There is a small 
budgeted surplus in the Core budget. It is therefore unlikely that ESCC will need to make an 
additional financial contribution as it has been obliged to do for the last two years. CS has a 
budgeted deficit of £131,530 which reflect a large increase in planned works for 2024/25. The 
CS deficit will be funded from the CS reserve. 
 
7.7 The CS programme ends at the end of 2025 and the high level of planned expenditure 
on the CS work programme in 2024/25 reflects the amount of CS work that will be undertaken 
next year in order to catch up on the backlog. There has been a lack of investment in asset 
replacement over the last few years and the increase in capital purchases budget is due to the 
restatement of an on-going asset replacement plan. The increase in CS Recharges income in 
2025/26 results from the plan to increase the amount of ranger time spent on CS projects thus 
maximising the recharge into the Core budget. The CS expenditure and income streams 
included from 2026/27 are indicative as an application has been made to participate in the 
replacement landscape recovery project. 
 
 
23 January 2024                     KEITH GLAZIER   

(Chair) 

Page 48



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

 
The Governance Committee met on 7 November 2023, 28 November 2023, 10 January 
2024 and 23 January 2024.  
 
Attendances: 
 
Councillor Glazier (Chair) (4) 
Councillors Bennett (4), Bowdler (4), Collier (3), Daniel (1) Denis (4) and Tutt (3)  

 
1. Pay Policy Statement     

 
1.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to formulate and publish a pay policy 
statement on the pay of its Chief Officers and the relationship between these pay levels and 
the rest of the workforce, excluding schools. This policy statement must be approved 
annually by full Council by 31 March. 

 
1.2 At its meeting on 27 March 2012, County Council agreed that the Governance 
Committee should have formal responsibility for the approval of posts at Chief Officer, 
Deputy Chief Officer and Assistant Director level with a remuneration package of £100,000 
or more, provided the existing grade bands and terms and conditions are applied and any 
proposed exceptions to these are reported to full County Council. The actual appointment 
decision will continue to be made using existing delegations. Any proposed exceptions to this 
would require the approval of the full County Council. 

 
1.3 The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to prepare an annual pay policy 
statement relating to the remuneration (total pay package) of its Chief Officers, as defined by 
statute, Deputy Chief Officers (and, by definition, Assistant Directors), the Monitoring Officer 
and its lowest-paid employees, excluding schools. The pay policy also has to state the 
relationship between the remuneration of Chief Officers and the remuneration of its 
employees who are not Chief Officers. 

 
1.4 The Hutton report on Fair Pay in the Public Sector recommended the publication of 
an organisation's pay multiple as a means of illustrating the relationship between the 
remuneration arrangements for Chief Officers in comparison with the rest of the non-schools 
workforce. This is a calculation in the form of a ratio between the median average earnings 
across the organisation and the highest paid employee. In addition, in 2021, revised 
guidance on the publication of fair pay disclosures was issued, requiring the publication of 
additional data; the top to median, lower quartile and upper quartile staff pay multiples 
(ratios) as set out below. 

 
1.5 Fair Pay disclosures (pay multiples) March 2023 compared with March 2022: 

Date of 
Calculation 

Pay 
Multiple 
(median) 

Pay 
Multiple 
(25th 
Percentile) 

Pay Multiple 
(75th 
Percentile) 

% change in 
highest paid 
director’s 
salary & 
allowances 

% change in all 
employees’ 
salary & 
allowances 

March 2022 6.87 : 1 9.12 : 1 5.27 : 1 1.5% 5.7% 

March 2023 6.52 : 1 8.26 : 1 4.95 : 1 0.9% 10.0% 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

 
The fair pay disclosures data is published on our website with the Pay Policy Statement and 
will be updated in March 2024.  

 
1.6 It is necessary to include definitions and the authorities' policies relating to levels and 
elements of remuneration including all additional payments and benefits in kind. The 
statement must also indicate the approach to the payment of Chief Officers on ceasing 
employment, including eligibility for the award of additional pensionable service and on the 
engagement or re-engagement of Chief Officers previously made redundant or accessing a 
local government pension. 
 
1.7 The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 
placed a new requirement on all employers with 250 or more employees to publish gender 
pay data on the gov.uk website by 30 March each year. The median gender pay gap for 
2022/23 is 9.3%, compared to 13.9% for 2021/22; the gender pay report for East Sussex 
County Council is published annually on our website, along with the Pay Policy Statement.  
The report and figures for 2023/24 will be uploaded before 30 March 2024. 
 
1.8 The Committee recommends the County Council to: 
 

 approve the updated Pay Policy Statement for 2024/25 as set out in Appendix 1  
 

 

23 January 2024                   KEITH GLAZIER 
          (Chair) 

Page 50



PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

REPORT OF THE PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
___________________________________________________________________ 

The People Scrutiny Committee met on 13 November 2023. 

Present: Councillors Sam Adeniji, Charles Clark, Penny di Cara, Kathryn Field, 
Nuala Geary, Johanna Howell (Chair), Wendy Maples, Stephen Shing, 
Colin Swansborough and John Ungar (Vice Chair)  

  Mr John Hayling (Parent Governor Representative) 
Mr Trevor Cristin (Diocese of Chichester Representative) (via MS 
Teams) 

  
Also Present: Councillor Bob Stanley, Lead Member for Education and Inclusion,     

Special Educational Needs and Disability) 
Councillor Bob Bowdler, Lead Member for Children and Families (via 
MS Teams) 

 
1. Scrutiny Review of School Exclusions 
 
1.1 The People Scrutiny Committee has completed its Scrutiny Review of School 
Exclusions. A copy of the Committee’s full report is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
1.2  In March 2023, the People Scrutiny Committee agreed to undertake a scrutiny 
review into school exclusions to address the recent increase in the number of school 
exclusions in East Sussex and, in particular, concerns about the number of 
vulnerable pupils being permanently excluded, including those in receipt of Free 
School Meals, and those with special educational needs (SEND).  

1.3  The Scoping Board was encouraged by the work underway by the Children’s 
Services Department to reduce the number of exclusions, however there were 
concerns that vulnerable pupils, including SEND pupils and those facing additional 
external challenges, remained more likely to be suspended than their peers; and that 
there had been an increasing number of decisions to exclude very young children at 
primary phase; and concluded that these issues could benefit from closer 
examination by scrutiny through a review.  

1.4  The Scoping Board agreed to focus on the following areas: 

 preventative strategies and whole school approaches to reduce the 

number of exclusions;  

 appropriate responses to pupils who were at higher risk of exclusion; and 

 council messaging on the need to reduce and benefits of reducing school 

exclusions. 

1.5  The Review found that the Department was progressing a number of projects 
and initiatives to reduce permanent exclusions and concluded that there was a 
strong commitment from most schools and trusts to achieve this. However, the 
Review Board also learned that schools were dealing with increasing demands and 
complexity of needs of children and their families post pandemic, including mental 
health and SEN and there was concern that some schools were using part-time 
timetables to manage behaviour. The Review concluded that clearer guidance and 
support was needed to help ensure appropriate use of part-time timetables was 
consistent across all schools and trusts. Although the Review recognised its 
limitations, as the decision to exclude is a school one and academies are wholly 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

outside of the remit of the local authority, it also concluded that there were 
approaches the Department and schools could progress further to reduce the 
number of permanent exclusions, including whole school relational approaches and 
adaptive teaching of the curriculum that would benefit all pupils; targeted additional 
support for pupils identified as at risk of exclusion, including effective use of 
alternative provision; and strong engagement with, and support for, families. Council 
messaging should focus on the benefits of reducing school exclusions, as well as the 
support available. 

1.6  The People Scrutiny Committee recommends to the County Council that – 

1.6.1 The Department should utilise area-based teams to identify and support 
schools and trusts to provide a graduated response to behaviour. 

1.6.2 The Department should continue to encourage schools and trusts to attend 
training on whole school relational approaches and develop trauma informed 
practices so pupils feel safe at school and develop positive relationships. This 
training should include how to communicate key aspects of these approaches with 
parents and carers to ensure continuity and support at home. 

1.6.3 The Department should work with schools and trusts to review and make use 
of available data to:  

a) identify pupils who are at risk of permanent exclusion and identify available 
support at Inclusion Partnership meetings; and 

b) monitor pupils identified by the Attendance Support Team who are absent 
from mainstream education, either through part-time timetables or internal 
exclusions, and assess what alternative support could be put in place. 

1.6.4 The Department should develop training for schools and trusts to share best 
practice on how adaptive teaching can deliver the curriculum to support needs of all 
pupils, including SEND pupils and pupils facing additional external challenges. This 
should include developing guidance on assessment to ensure the use of Additional 
Needs Plans and Personal Education Plans support and address the needs that 
have been identified. 

1.6.5 The Department should work with schools and trusts to promote the benefits 
of extracurricular activities, including: 

a) where provided through Early Help, the Holiday and Food Activity 
Programme, Family Hubs, and Youth Centres, activities which engage pupils 
throughout the year and incorporate support for families; and 

b) summer programmes which support transition. 

1.6.6 The Department should work with schools and trusts to support pupils 
transitioning into Early Years in primary and Key Stage 3 in secondary by: 

a) working with pre-school settings and primary schools to identify pupils who 
may need additional support when transitioning to primary/secondary school 
and referring them to appropriate support and programmes; and 

b) communicating successful approaches and support at the point of transition at 
all phases to ensure continuity of provision. 

1.6.7 The Department should encourage schools and trusts to increase the use of 
youth voice in preventive strategies and responses to children at risk of permanent 
exclusion by providing training and guidance for schools and governors on how to 
embed youth voice into all areas of school policy. 

Page 52



PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

1.6.8 The Department should work with schools and trusts to further develop and 
embed parental engagement to ensure all stakeholders understand how and why a 
child is at risk of permanent exclusion, including the parent/carer and the child, and 
include parents and carers with decisions around alternative provision, including all 
available options. 

1.6.9 The Department should embed its multi-agency response, including the use of 
the new level 2 keywork team in Early Help focused on supporting attendance to: 

a) promote targeted support, including wider family-based issues, to pupils and 
families who have been identified as at risk of permanent exclusion and 
multiple suspensions due to a lack of engagement with the school as a result 
of persistent absence; and 

b) promote to schools and families parenting programmes that support   
interventions and preventative measures in schools. 

1.6.10 To accompany the Alternative Provision Directory, which is to be shared with 
schools and trusts, the Department should develop guidance on: 

a) how to make best use of alternative provision, including good communication 
and ways to provide consistent support once a child reintegrates; and 

b) how alternative provision, including onsite alternative provision, can be used 
to prevent permanent exclusion and support pupils with additional needs, 
including those facing additional external challenges. 

1.6.11 The Department should continue to provide ongoing support and training for 
governors including whole school training on SEND needs, mental health issues and 
inclusive behaviour policies, and produce guidance on how to conduct inclusive 
Governor Disciplinary Committee meetings that prioritise youth voice. 

1.6.12 The Department should develop clear and consistent guidance to share with 
schools and trusts on the benefits of reducing school exclusions, and the support 
available, including: 

a) key findings from the RSA ‘Rethinking Exclusions’ and ISOS projects;  
b) using Primary and Secondary Boards to communicate to schools and trusts 

the benefits of inclusive policies and share best practice for reducing 
exclusions and agree to a shared responsibility to reducing exclusions; and 

c) on the appropriate use of part time timetables to ensure these are not being 
used to manage behaviour. Part-time timetables that are in place must be for 
the shortest time necessary and reviewed regularly with the pupil and their 
parents. 

[See also Report of the Cabinet – 12 December 2023]  

 

13 November 2023        JOHANNA HOWELL  

Chair 

 

 

    
  

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

REPORT OF THE PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
___________________________________________________________________ 

The Place Scrutiny Committee met on 23 November 2023. 

Present: Councillors Matthew Beaver (Chair), Chris Collier, Ian Hollidge, Eleanor 
Kirby-Green, Philip Lunn, Paul Redstone, David Tutt and Brett Wright. 

 
In attendance virtually: Councillor Julia Hilton (Vice Chair) 
 
Also present:  Councillor Claire Dowling (Lead Member for Transport and 

Environment).   

 

1. Scrutiny Review of Pothole Management 
 

1.1 The Place Scrutiny Committee has completed its Scrutiny Review of Pothole 
Management.   A copy of the Committee’s full report is attached at Appendix 1. 

1.2.    A Review Board was established in March 2023 and was comprised of 
Councillors Matthew Beaver, Julia Hilton, Ian Hollidge (Chair), Eleanor Kirby-Green 
and Philip Lunn. The review examined the Council’s approach to managing pothole 
repairs on the County’s roads. 

1.3 The scope of the review included an investigation of various aspects of the 
current policies, procedures, and approaches to repairing potholes including: 

 Pothole repair techniques and costs;  

 The quality of pothole repair works;  

 Alternative pothole intervention levels and costs;  

 Defect reporting and consideration of current policies to take into account 
vulnerable road users (e.g. those who walk, wheel, cycle, and motorcycle etc.)   

 Consideration of budgets for pothole repairs and safety defects; and  

 Consideration of the effectiveness of the Council’s patching programme. 

1.4 The review looked at a range of evidence on the Council’s approach to 
repairing potholes and other carriageway defects. In addition, it considered the 
factors that cause road surfaces to develop potholes, and the repair of clusters of 
potholes which are often cited by the public as one of their main concerns. The 
review also considered the additional investment which has been agreed for 
highways maintenance in 2023/24 to tackle the number of potholes and road surface 
conditions. 

1.5 Overall the review found that good progress and plans are being made to 
reduce the number of potholes in the County’s roads within the resources available. 
During the course of the review, it became evident that things were changing as a 
result a proactive ‘right first time’ approach to pothole repairs being taken by the 
highways maintenance contractor, and changes that had been made to the contract 
specification. However, it will take time for the impact of these changes and 
additional investment to become evident, as the planned repair programmes start to 
be delivered. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 

1.6 The Place Scrutiny Committee recommends to the County Council that – 

1.6.1 Officers develop a strategy for highway drainage, in order to target highways 
drainage investment requirements more accurately and to help prevent water 
damage to road surfaces. 

1.6.2 The Council lobbies Government to make changes to the way utility 
companies operate and are regulated under the New Roads and Street Works Act 
and in particular to: 

 Lower the time allowed for permanent reinstatements from 6 months to 3 
months;  

 Extend the reinstatement works guarantee period from 2 years to 5 years;   

 Raise the level of financial penalties for failing to comply with the 
requirements of the Act;  

 Introduce timescales for utility companies to repair defective apparatus once it 
has been reported to them, with penalties for non-compliance; and 

 Increase the number of utility company inspections that can be recharged 
from 30%. 

1.6.3 Officers explore the feasibility of increasing the amount and type of 
inspections of utility company reinstatement work to drive up quality and lobby 
Government for funding to do so. 

1.6.4 The Guide to Highways is amended to include a reference to the current 
practice of risk assessing reported road defects which ensures the risks posed to 
different types of road user are appropriately met through repairs. 

1.6.5 It notes the Committee’s support for the Cabinet report recommendation that 
a greater proportion of capital funding is allocated from the highways structural 
maintenance budget to patching and surface dressing in future years, and reviews 
are undertaken on a periodic basis. 

1.6.6 It is made clear in reporting information that the road condition performance 
targets refer to the percentage of road length, and that all roads are likely to have a 
mixture of green, amber and red condition sections of road. 

1.6.7 Annual performance monitoring reports are presented to the Place Scrutiny 
Committee to maximise transparency and scrutiny of pothole repairs, contract key 
performance indicators (KPIs), and planned highway maintenance work, with the first 
report scheduled for July 2024. 

1.6.8 Officers continue to allocate specific, defined levels of investment within the 
existing highways infrastructure maintenance capital budget, to tackle clusters of 
potholes and address public concerns about this issue, for example by undertaking 
patching repairs and surface dressing. 

1.6.9 The Guide to Highways on the East Sussex Highways web site is amended to 
reflect that repairs gangs, Balfour Beatty Living Places (the Council’s highway 
maintenance contractor) and the Council exercise a degree of flexibility in their 
approach to repairing safety intervention level defects and will repair other safety 
intervention level defects they find whilst on site. 

Page 56



PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

1.6.10 The Council continues to lobby Government for better long-term funding 
arrangements for pothole repairs, and highways maintenance, so that it can plan 
effectively, does not have to expend resources bidding for funding and can address 
local road conditions. 

1.6.11 If funding pressures ease or additional funding becomes available, the 
Council considers making additional investment in highway drainage. 

1.6.12 The Communities, Economy and Transport department continues to maintain 
an active approach to modelling highway investment levels needed to achieve the 
Council’s road condition targets and feed the outcomes into the Reconciling Policy, 
Performance Resources (RPPR) budget setting process. 

1.6.13 Officers review the visibility and usability of website information on planned 
maintenance work on potholes to make it easier to find and use online, including via 
the East Sussex County Council website and the upcoming app, and in particular 
information for patching, resurfacing and revenue funded advisories. 

 

.  

 

 [See also Report of the Cabinet – 23 January 2024]  

 

  

 

23 November 2023      MATTHEW BEAVER 

Chair 

 

 

    
  

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

NOTICE OF MOTION – MOTION FOR THE OCEAN FOR EAST 
SUSSEX 

 
 

Motion for the Ocean for East Sussex 
 

This Council declares an urgent need for Ocean and River Recovery. 
 
MOTION WORDING 
 
We recognise that we need ocean recovery to meet our net zero carbon emissions targets, and 
we need net zero carbon emissions to recover our ocean. We also need to act as the 
custodians of the rivers, waterways and tributaries that run through our towns and villages on 
the way to the sea. We recognise that all people wherever they live, impact and are impacted 
by ocean and river health and that we have an essential role to play in recovering the health of 
our ocean. 
This Council requests Cabinet to: 
 

1. Report to full council within 6/12 months with an ocean and river recovery strategy and 
action plan that delivers against transparent, measurable indicators reported to the 
council annually (see next section for suggestion about strategic goals and action to be 
taken).  

2. That the council writes to central government requesting that they put the oceans and 
rivers into net recovery by 2030. (full details of this letter and specific requests can be 
seen in the next section).  
 

MOTION BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Ocean and River Recovery Strategy and Plan: 
 
The plan should aim to include 
 

1. Embedding ocean and river recovery in all strategic decisions, plans, budgets, and 

procurement by the Council (particularly in planning, the new Waste and Minerals Plan, 

regeneration, waste processing, skills and economic policy), aligning with climate 

change mitigation and adaptation requirements, and considering ocean-based and 

nature-based solutions in our journey towards a carbon neutral and climate resilient 

future.  

 
Working with the Sussex Environment Board to deliver a county wide action plan that 
embeds these goals. Ensure it has the relevant membership organisations to implement 
actions. 
 

2. Learn from and build on the existing innovative work already being carried out in the 

county such as the evolving cross party supported Rights of the River charter in Lewes, 

The Ouse and Adur Rivers Trust and the Sussex Kelp Recovery Project. 

 
3. Ensure that the Local Nature Recovery Strategy strives to support ocean and river 

recovery, working with the many partners already involved in this work.  

 
4. Work with partners locally and nationally to deliver increased sustainability in marine 

industries and develop a sustainable and equitable blue economy that delivers ocean 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 

recovery and local prosperity; including the local fishing industry and the vital work of the 

Sussex IFCA and the Marine Management Organisation. 

 
5. Work with Sussex College group to continue to build on their work embedding marine 

and  maritime training at the heart of training provision as well as with technical / 

apprenticeship training providers where appropriate and increase understanding in the 

role our oceans and rivers can play in sequestering carbon. Ensure this work is shared 

and promoted across East Sussex. 

 
6. Work in partnership with the borough and district councils that sit along the river 

catchments of the Medway, Ouse, Rother, Uck, Brede, Tillingham, Cuckmere and 

Combe Haven and local community groups, land owners, farmers, clubs and other 

organisations that have a recreational, economic or other interest in these rivers’ 

protection and recovery. This should include supporting and including the voices of the 

many citizen science projects that are springing up to monitor water quality and ensuring 

their voices are heard in any pollution mitigation projects being planned. 

 
7. Grow ocean literacy and marine citizenship in East Sussex, including ensuring all pupils 

are given the opportunity to experience the ocean first-hand before leaving primary 

school - striving to include home-schooled children - and promote sustainable and 

equitable access to the ocean through physical and digital experiences for all residents. 

Work to promote existing work in this area already being carried out by Sussex Wildlife 

Trust, South Downs National Park and others. 

 

8. Create an online portal of the Council website to update on ocean and river recovery 

progress, signpost to ocean literacy development opportunities, and marine citizenship 

pledges. 

 

Letter to government 
 
Write to the Government asking them to put the ocean into net recovery by 2030 by:  
 

a) Ensuring Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authorities have the resources they need 

to effectively research and monitor our growing number of marine protected areas, and 

to set and enforce appropriate fishing levels that support local economies and deliver 

environmental sustainability.  

 

b) Work with coastal communities to co-develop marine policy to ensure it delivers 

equitable and sustainable outcomes in local placemaking. 

 

c) Appoint a dedicated Minister for Coastal Communities to ensure accountability.  

 

d) Stop plastic pollution at source by strengthening the regulations around single-use 

plastics and set standards for microfibre-catching filters to ensure that all new domestic 

and commercial washing machines are fitted with a filter that captures a high 

percentage of microfibres produced in the wash cycle. 

 
e) Listen to marine and social scientific advice to update the Marine Policy Statement and 

produce a national Ocean Recovery Strategy which will:  

 

i. Enable the recovery of marine ecosystems rather than managing degraded or altered 

habitats in their reduced state.  

 
Page 60



 

ii. Consider action to ensure income equality, marine conservation, energy, industrial 

development, flood and coastal erosion risk management, climate adaptation and 

fisheries policy holistically rather than as competing interests.  

 

iii. Develop a smarter approach to managing the health of the entire ocean that moves 

beyond Marine Protected Areas and enables links to be made across sectors towards 

sustainability.  

 

iv. Establish improved processes for understanding the benefits of ocean recovery, 

leaving no doubt the links between this and human lives, livelihoods, and wellbeing.  

 
Glossary 
 

A “Blue Economy” is one which uses ocean resources sustainably or even regeneratively 
whilst improving community wellbeing and social equity. It is not simply marine or maritime 
economic activity or “blue growth”.  
 
“Ocean literacy” is where a person understands the ocean's influence on them and their 
influence on the ocean. For example, an understanding that the ocean stores carbon and an 
understanding that what they put down the drain can impact on ocean health. It can also 
include learning how to be an active marine citizen. 
 
“Marine citizenship” is exercising the right to participate in the transformation of the human-
ocean relationship for sustainability. This means taking individual and collective 
responsibility to consider one’s own and society’s impacts on the ocean; and exercising 
rights as a marine citizen, e.g. writing to a local Councillor to ask them to take action for 
ocean recovery; or promoting or making local, national or international policy changes.  

 
Why is this declaration needed now? 

The health of our ocean is inextricably linked with our climate and with human health, wellbeing 
and prosperity. A healthy ocean is fundamental in regulating the global climate system and is an 
essential ally in our fight against climate change. The ocean absorbs more than 90% of the 
excess heat in the climate system as well as absorbing around 20% of annual carbon dioxide 
(CO2) emissions generated by human activity.  

However, decades of irresponsible marine exploitation and pollution have led to significant 
levels of degradation, and this together with the detrimental impacts of our changing climate on 
marine ecosystems has led to national and global recognition that the world ocean is in crisis. 
An unhealthy ocean does not absorb or store carbon as effectively as a healthy one, further 
worsening the impacts of the climate crisis.  

The UK government’s recent Marine Strategy assessment confirms that our marine 
environment is not healthy. An ocean in crisis is not only bad news for our climate, but also for 
our local fishing and tourism industries and for the health, wellbeing and prosperity of our 
coastal communities. 

In East Sussex like the rest of planet, we are witnessing the ocean crisis first-hand.  Fish stocks 
continue to collapse from permitted and illegal overfishing and poor water quality is impacting 
seafood and safe bathing. Our beaches are covered in litter with each tide, much of it plastic, 
though this is just the tip of the iceberg of the amount of litter in our oceans. Marine 
microplastics have been found in all marine environments and in the bodies of many species, 
including humans and the species of fish we regularly eat.  
 
 

Page 61



 

Our residents are on the frontline of climate change and are being disproportionately impacted 
relative to inland communities. The impact of the climate crisis on the ocean is profound, from 
rising water temperatures and changes in ocean chemistry, to sea level rise and increased 
storminess, including in our local waters. This is changing what seafood is caught locally, 
accelerating the erosion of our coastline - increasing the risk to infrastructure and properties, 
and increasing the risk of flooding and storm damage. 
 
Urgent action is needed to halt these devastating changes and recover the health of our ocean 
to enable it to deliver the full range of benefits, including climate regulation, carbon storage in 
coastal and marine habitats, coastal protection, a thriving local economy, clean safe recreation 
and happy, healthy coastal communities. We must play our part in recovering the health of the 
ocean. 
 
At present, not everyone has the opportunity or means to access and enjoy the ocean. Even 
within East Sussex there are people of all ages who have never experienced the joy of our 
ocean. First-hand experience of the ocean is essential if people are to be motivated to play their 
part in protecting it, whether that is through disposing of their litter responsibly, recycling what 
they can or volunteering in ocean conservation with local organisations. Helping individuals 
develop their ocean literacy (understanding of the relationship between people and the ocean) 
is an essential part of this motion, as is individual and collective marine citizenship (promoting 
and demanding an ocean recovery through local, national and international policy changes). 
 
Local authorities cannot solve the ocean crisis alone, but we can – and must – play our part. 
 
 
Appendix I 
 
This motion is based on a template motion drafted by the LGA Coastal Special Interest 
Group. Developed by leading coastal and marine experts, Dr Pamela Buchan, Emily 
Cunningham and Nicola Bridge, the Motion for the Ocean has been created to enable local 
authorities to tackle these potentially competing ambitions of economic development, 
community health and wellbeing, and a healthy marine environment in a more holistic way. At 
its core, the motion aims to help councils and the communities we serve to “think ocean” and 
ensure the development of the blue economy is regenerative, delivering the recovery of our 
ocean and reducing socio-economic inequality in our coastal communities.   
 
The motion aims to help councils embed this new way of thinking at the highest levels of local 
decision-making, so it is not the responsibility of one team, but of the whole council.   
 
Councils that have passed a Motion for the Ocean 
 

 Plymouth City Council, 22 November 2021 

 Falmouth Town Council, 10 January 2022 

 South Tyneside Council, 13 January 2022 

 North Norfolk District Council, 9 February 2022 

 North Devon Council, 23 February 2022 

 Monmouthshire County Council, 3 March 2022 

 Seaton with Slingley Parish Council, 16 March 2022 

 Seaham Town Council, 22 March 2022 

 Portsmouth City Council, 17 May 2022 

 Devon County Council, 27 May 2022 

Page 62



 

 Torridge District Council, 6 June 2022 

 Blandform Forum Town Council, 25 July 2022 

 Teignbridge District Council, 26 July 2022 

 Blackpool Council, 5 December 2022 

 Isle of Wight, 19 July 2023 

 Canterbury City Council, 20 July 2023 

 North Somerset Council, 19 September 2023  

 Havant Borough Council, 21 September 2023  

 Newark & Sherwood District Council, 17 October 2023  

 

 

 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

NOTICE OF MOTION – OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY CHAIRS 
 

 
Overview and scrutiny committees are a key strand of corporate governance and play an 
important role in holding the Executive to account. It is therefore proposed that Full Council 
agree as follows: 
 
1. that the Chair of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed from 

amongst the members of opposition groups; 
2. to delegate authority to each of the three Overview and Scrutiny Committees to appoint 

their Chair from amongst their memberships, subject to the requirement above; and  
3. that the Constitution be amended accordingly. 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 
 

 
Report of a meeting of the East Sussex Fire Authority held at County Hall, St. Anne’s 
Crescent, Lewes BN7 1UE at 10:30 hours on Thursday, 7 December 2023. 
 
Present: Councillors Galley (Chairman), Lambert (Vice-Chair), Asaduzzaman, Azad, Dowling, Evans, 
Geary, Goddard, Maples, Marlow-Eastwood, Muten, Osborne, Redstone, Scott, Shing, Theobald and 
West 

 
The agenda and non-confidential reports can be read on the East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service’s 
website at http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-meetings/  A brief 
synopsis and the decisions relating to key items is set out below. 
  
1 PROVISION OF MONITORING OFFICER, DEPUTY MONITORING OFFICE & LEGAL 

SERVICES 
  
 The Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer left the meeting for the duration of this 

agenda item. 
  
1.1 The Fire Authority considered the arrangements for the provision of legal services and 

Monitoring Officer support from 1 April 2024.  The current legal services collaboration 
between the Fire Authority and Brighton & Hove City Council (B&HCC) was due to expire on 
31 March 2024.  The Monitoring Officer (MO) was the chief legal advisor to the Fire Authority 
and Senior Leadership Team, the role was a statutory function as set out in the Fire 
Authority’s Combination Order.  Historically, since the creation of the Fire Authority in 1997, 
the function had been provided by B&HCC as part of the split between constituent authorities, 
with East Sussex County Council providing support through financial services & internal 
audit.  The Deputy Monitoring Officer was appointed by the MO and contracted to East 
Sussex Fire & Rescue Service for 2 days a week, providing a wide range of legal support 
including prosecutions, and support for governance matters.  The Service also bought into a 
wider legal provision from B&HCC, this was very responsive and was cost effective in terms 
of benchmarking.  

  
1.2 It was agreed that the Monitoring Officer of B&HCC continue to be the appointed Monitoring 

Officer for the Authority.  That the provision of Legal Services, Monitoring Officer appointment 
and deputising arrangements are to be provided by B&HCC for a three-year period with the 
option to extend for a further two years.  To delegate authority to the Assistant Director 
Resources/Treasurer to agree the detail of the new agreement with B&HCC and to note that, 
in accordance with the Authority’s Procurement Standing Order (PSO) 4.1, the Treasurer, 
after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, Procurement Manager and Chairman, had 
approved a waiver of PSO 2.7. 

  
2 2024/25 TO 2028/29 STRATEGIC SERVICE PLANNING AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 

PLAN 
  
2.1 The Fire Authority were updated on the Authority’s financial planning position in advance of 

the receipt of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS) for 2024/25 and 
the submission of budget proposals and a refreshed Medium Term Finance Plan (MTFP) to 
the Fire Authority at its meeting in February 2024.  The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) had 
met on 28 November 2023 to discuss a number of proposals that could allow a balanced 
budget to be set. 

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 12

http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-meetings/


EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

2.2 There remained significant financial uncertainty due to another 1-year settlement and a 
Parliamentary General Election in 2024 with no party indicating that there would be increased 
investment in the Fire Sector.  There was a risk that even a May 2024 election would not 
leave sufficient time to carry out a Comprehensive Spending Review and this could result in 
a further one year settlement for 2025/26.  A significant proportion of the savings and 
flexibilities being considered were one-offs.  Lower levels of reserves meant there was less 
financial flexibility and it was important that there was a realistic reduction in ambition and 
acceptance of what could be achieved in the current financial climate.  The settlement figures 
were not due until 19 December 2023, but the Government had published a revised Local 
Government Funding Policy Statement which confirmed the Council Tax referendum 
principles.  It was disappointing that despite presenting a strong case for additional council 
tax flexibility of £5, the fire sector had only been allowed a maximum of 3%.  

  
2.3 Members discussed the impact of raising Council Tax on local council tax payers given the 

current financial situation but recognised that in the absence of a sustainable financial 
settlement from government then increasing council tax was the only way to protect local 
services.  Members had a lengthy discussion during which many concerns for future funding, 
and the expectation on the Service to perform more for less money were aired.  These 
included concerns around the Service being able to plan properly when in receipt of 1-year 
settlements and that the Government need to address this manner of local government 
funding.  

  
2.4 The Fire Authority noted the report and its assessment of the potential funding gap for 

2024/25, provided comment on the risks and assumptions set out in the report and provided 
comment on the savings proposals set out in the report and agreed that they would be 
presented with formal proposals for decision in February 2024. 

  
3 INTEGRATED TRANSPORT FUNCTION FORT ROAD SITE, NEWHAVEN  
  
3.1 The Fire Authority considered an update on the business case for the re-development of the 

Fort Road site in Newhaven and seeking approval to vary the capital programme to reflect 
the scheme costs.  Members asked what liaison had been undertaken with other blue light 
services and other organisations with heavy fleet vehicles and were reminded that this 
project had a long history.  The Integrated Transport Function project had been underway in 
various guises for well over 8 years and lengthy negotiations had taken place with South-
East Coast Ambulance Service, Sussex and Surrey Police and other local authorities.  As 
there had been no workable options to progress in a collaboration the approach to the project 
had changed, and it was this that had been presented to Members over the past few months, 
culminating in this report.  Continuing with the current provision was no longer an option and 
the grant was running up to its deadline for being utilized.  

  
3.2 It was confirmed that the outsourcing figure of £80,000 was a conservative estimate, 

currently the Service outsourced all heavy fleet maintenance but by bringing Fort Road online 
as the Engineering hub the Service would have the capacity and facilities to bring this in-
house, potentially creating opportunities to undertake work for other organisations.  There 
was confidence in the contingency planning and fund level which was in accordance with 
best practice.  Pre-planning advice had been sought and any delays would be mitigated by 
resequencing the programme.  The anticipated timeframe would be to submit the planning 
application in February 2024 with a view to completion of the project by 2025.   

  
3.3 The Authority agreed that the existing capital schemes for Integrated Transport and Fort 

Road RIBA Stages 1-2 would be deleted and replaced with a new scheme Fort Road – 
Engineering Workshop and that the gross funding for the scheme is increased from £0.880m 
to £2.836m.  They agreed that the Fire Transformation Fund grant of £1.5m be recognised 
in the capital asset strategy giving a net scheme budget of £1.336m and the forecast revenue 
consequences of the scheme would be built into the MTFP.  The Authority noted that the 
Senior Leadership Team had approved the full business case. 

  

Page 68



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 

 

  

COUNCILLOR ROY GALLEY 
CHAIRMAN OF EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 
 
7 December 2023 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 October 2023
	Minutes

	5 Report of the Cabinet
	6 Report of the Governance Committee
	7 Report of the People Scrutiny Committee
	8 Report of the Place Scrutiny Committee
	9 Notice of Motion - Motion for the Ocean for East Sussex
	10 Notice of Motion - Overview and Scrutiny Chairs
	12 Report of the East Sussex Fire Authority

